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PART I

Item 1. Business:

The following business overview is qualiÑed in its entirety by the more detailed information
included elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (""Report''). As
used in this Report, unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, all references
to ""Steelcase,'' ""we,'' ""our,'' ""the Company'' and similar references are to Steelcase Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Unless the context otherwise indicates, reference to a year relates to a
Ñscal year, ended in February of the year indicated, rather than a calendar year. Additionally, Q1 2005
references the Ñrst quarter of Ñscal 2005. All amounts are in millions, except per share data, data
presented as a percentage or unless otherwise indicated.

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Steelcase is the world's leading designer, marketer and manufacturer of oÇce furniture and
complimentary products and services, with 2005 revenue of approximately $2.6 billion. We were
incorporated in 1912 as The Metal OÇce Furniture Company and changed our name to Steelcase in
1954. We became a publicly-traded company in 1998 and our stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange.

The Company's mission is to provide knowledge, products and services that provide a better
work experience for our customers. We expect to grow the business by focusing on new geographic
and customer market segments while continuing to leverage our existing customer base, which we
believe represents the largest installed base in the industry.

Headquartered in Grand Rapids, Michigan, Steelcase is a global company with approximately
14,500 employees. We sell our products through various channels including independent dealers,
company-owned dealers, direct sales to end-users and governmental units. Other channels are
employed as appropriate to reach new customers and to serve existing customer segments more
eÇciently. We operate using a global network of manufacturing and assembly facilities to supply
product to our various operating segments.

Our Products

We are focused on providing knowledge, products and services that enable our customers to
create work environments that help people in oÇces work more eÅectively while helping organizations
utilize space more eÇciently. We oÅer a broad range of products with a variety of aesthetic options
and performance features, and at various price points that address the three core elements of a work
environment: furniture, interior architecture and technology. Our reportable segments generally oÅer
similar or complementary products under some or all of the categories listed below:

Furniture

Panel-based and freestanding furniture systems. Moveable and reconÑgurable furniture compo-
nents used to create individual workstations and complete work environments. Systems furniture
provides visual and acoustical privacy, accommodates power and data cabling, and supports
technology and other worktools.

Storage. Lateral and vertical Ñles, cabinets, bins and shelves, carts, Ñle pedestals and towers.

Seating. High-performance, ergonomic, executive, guest, lounge, team, health care, stackable
and general use chairs.

Tables. Conference, training, personal and caf πe tables.
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Textiles and surface materials. Upholstery, wallcovering, drapery, panel fabrics, hand-tufted
rugs, architectural panels, shades and screens and surface imaging.

Desks and Suites. Wood and non-wood desks, credenzas and casegoods.

Worktools. Computer support, technology management, information management products and
portable whiteboards.

Architecture

Interior architecture. Full and partial height walls and doors with a variety of surface materials,
raised Öoors and modular post and beam products.

Lighting. Task, ambient and accent lighting with energy eÇcient and user control features.

Technology

Infrastructure. Infrastructure products, such as modular communications, data and power
cabling.

Appliances. Group communication tools, such as interactive and static whiteboards, image
capturing devices and web-based interactive space-scheduling devices.

Reportable Segments

We operate on a worldwide basis within three reportable segments: North America, the Steelcase
Design Partnership (""SDP'') and International, plus an ""Other'' category. Additional information about
our reportable segments, including Ñnancial information about geographic areas, is contained in
Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and
Note 15 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.

North America Segment

Our North America segment serves customers mainly through independent and owned dealers in
over 330 locations in the United States and Canada. Each of our dealers maintains their own sales
force which is complemented by our sales representatives who work closely with the dealers
throughout the sales process. No single independent dealer accounted for more than 4.6% of our
segment revenue for 2005. The Ñve largest independent dealers collectively accounted for
approximately 12.2% of our segment revenue.

We do not believe our business is dependent on any single dealer, the loss of which would have
a material eÅect upon our business. However, temporary disruption of dealer coverage within a
speciÑc local market due to Ñnancial failure or the inability to smoothly transition ownership could
temporarily have an adverse impact on our business within the aÅected market. From time to time, we
obtain a controlling interest in dealers that are undergoing an ownership transition. It is typically our
intent to sell these dealerships as soon as it is practical.

Our oÅerings in the North America segment include furniture, architecture, and technology
products, as described above, under the Steelcase and Turnstone brands. In 2005, the North America
segment accounted for $1,439.4 or 55.1% of our total revenue and had approximately 7,500
employees, approximately 5,900 of which are manufacturing employees.

The North America oÇce furniture markets are highly competitive, with a number of competitors
oÅering similar categories of product. In these markets, companies compete on price, delivery and
relationships with customers, architects and designers. Our most signiÑcant competitors in the United
States are Haworth, Inc., Herman Miller, Inc., HNI Corporation, Kimball International, and Knoll, Inc.
Together with Steelcase, these companies represent approximately 60% of the United States oÇce
furniture market.
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Steelcase Design Partnership Segment

The SDP segment is comprised of Ñve brands focused on higher end design furniture products
and niche applications. Each brand has its own competitors which are generally focused on a small
group of specialized products. DesignTex is focused on surface materials including textiles, wall
covering, hand-tufted rugs, shades, screens and surface imaging. Details designs and markets
ergonomic tools and accessories for the workplace. Brayton, Vecta, and Metro each provide diÅerent
furniture products, including solutions for lobby and reception areas, conference rooms, private oÇces,
health care and learning environments. The SDP segment markets and sells its products through
many of the same dealers as the North America segment. In 2005, the SDP segment accounted for
$322.2, or 12.3% of our total revenue and had approximately 1,300 employees, approximately 600 of
which are manufacturing employees.

International Segment

Our International segment serves customers outside of the United States and Canada under the
Steelcase and SDP brands. The International oÇce furniture market is highly competitive and
fragmented. We compete with many diÅerent local or regional manufacturers in many diÅerent
markets. In most cases, these competitors focus their strengths on selected product categories. The
International segment has its most signiÑcant presence in Europe where we have the leading market
share. The International segment serves customers through independent and company-owned dealers
in about 490 locations. In certain geographic markets the segment sells directly to customers. In
2005, our International segment accounted for $590.5, or 22.6% of our total revenue and had
approximately 3,500 employees, approximately 1,400 of which are manufacturing employees.

Other Category

The Other category currently includes our PolyVision, IDEO and Financial Services subsidiaries
and unallocated corporate expenses.

PolyVision Corporation designs and manufactures visual communications products, such as static
and electronic whiteboards. The majority of PolyVision's revenue relates to static whiteboards in the
primary and secondary education markets. PolyVision primarily sells to general contractors through a
direct bid process. PolyVision's remaining revenues are generated from electronic whiteboards sold
through our North America dealer network and other audio-visual resellers.

IDEO Inc. provides product design and innovation services to companies in a variety of industries
including computers, communications, healthcare, and manufacturing among others.

Steelcase Financial Services Inc. provides leasing services to North America and SDP customers
and selected Ñnancing services to our dealers.

Approximately 85% of corporate expenses for shared services are charged to the operating
segments as part of a corporate allocation. Unallocated expenses are reported within the Other
category.

In 2005, the Other category accounted for $261.7, or 10.0% of our total revenue.

Customer and Dealer Concentrations

Our largest direct sale customer accounted for approximately 1.3% of our consolidated revenue
and our Ñve largest direct sell customers accounted for approximately 4.6% of consolidated revenue.
However, these percentages do not include revenue from various government agencies and other
entities purchasing under our General Services Administration contract, which in the aggregate
accounted for approximately 2.4% of our consolidated revenue. We do not believe our business is
dependent on any single or small number of end-use customers, the loss of which would have a
material adverse eÅect upon our business.
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No single independent dealer accounted for more than 2.9% of our consolidated revenue for
2005. The Ñve largest independent dealers collectively accounted for approximately 7.7% of our
consolidated revenue. See Note 14 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements for additional information.

Global Manufacturing and Supply Chain

Manufacturing and Logistics

Historically, each of our segments, and in some cases, brands within segments, had their own
dedicated manufacturing facilities. In many cases, these plants were highly vertically integrated which
helped us maintain control over our make-to-order system. We invested in automation which improved
labor productivity but also resulted in a relatively capital intensive operation with signiÑcant work in
process inventories because of a batch and queue approach.

Over the last several years, we have been migrating to a diÅerent industrial model based on lean
principles which emphasize continuous one-piece Öow and discourages batch and queue. Moving to
this approach has reduced the capital needs of the business, reduced inventories, and reduced the
amount of Öoor space we need to produce product.

The migration to lean manufacturing along with the industry downturn created signiÑcant excess
manufacturing capacity which we have started to eliminate over the last few years. In 2000, we had
approximately 17.7 million square feet of manufacturing facilities worldwide. During Ñscal years 2001
to 2004, we have undergone signiÑcant restructuring driven by the need to reduce our excess
capacity in response to lower industry demand. At the end of 2005 we had reduced our square
footage dedicated to manufacturing by 5.9 million square feet to 11.8 million square feet, and recently
announced plans to further reduce square footage to 9.2 million square feet over the next two years.
We currently manufacture our products in 30 principal locations throughout the world. See Item 2:
Properties for additional information regarding real estate held for sale and idle property. We will
continue to examine opportunities to consolidate manufacturing and distribution operations and
dispose of assets that represent excess capacity.

The increased breadth of our product line over the last 10 years has increased the number of
manufacturing stock keeping units (""SKUs''), which has increased the complexity and cost of many
of our manufacturing operations. The Company has launched an initiative to streamline our product
oÅerings and increase sales volume per SKU to reduce complexity in our industrial system.

The next step in creating a more Öexible industrial model is to move away from facilities
dedicated to manufacturing for a single or limited number of geographic locations, and towards a
global network of manufacturing, assembly and logistics operations and a global network of integrated
suppliers that can serve customer needs across multiple brands and geographies. In 2005, we
centralized our global manufacturing under a single organization to help achieve this goal. This change
had no impact on how our operating results are reviewed by our chief operating decision maker.

Our physical distribution system in North America and Europe utilizes both our company-owned
trucking Öeet and commercial transport and delivery services. In North America, we are in the process
of establishing a number of regional distribution centers throughout the United States to reduce
freight cost and improve service to customers and dealers.

Raw Materials and Suppliers

The Company's manufacturing materials are available from a signiÑcant number of sources within
North America, Europe and Asia. To date, we have not experienced diÇculties obtaining raw materials,
which include steel and other metals, lumber, paper, paint, plastics, laminates, particleboard, veneers,
glass, fabrics, leathers and upholstery Ñlling material. These raw materials are not unique to the
industry nor are they rare. Steel and certain other commodity prices have signiÑcantly increased over
the past 18 months due to changes in global supply and demand. Although raw steel prices have
moderated in recent months, they are still approximately twice as high as 18 months ago. There is
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some risk that these changes could lead to future supply interruptions although we do not expect nor
have we experienced any such interruptions to date. See Item 7: Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for a discussion of raw materials prices.

Research, Design and Development

Steelcase's extensive researchÌa combination of user observations, feedback sessions and
sophisticated network analysisÌhas helped the Company develop unique expertise in helping people
work more eÅectively. We team up with other innovatorsÌleading universities, think tanks and
knowledge leadersÌto expand and deepen our understanding of how people work. We also
collaborate with IDEO, our subsidiary that provides design and innovation services worldwide. IDEO
has won over 100 Industrial Design Excellence Awards (sponsored by Business Week magazine), 12
of which were for projects with Steelcase or SDP.

Understanding patterns of work enables us to identify and anticipate user needs. Our design
teams develop prototypical solutions to address these needs. These solutions are sometimes single
products and/or enhancements to existing products, and are sometimes integrated architecture,
furniture and technology solutions. Design work is organizationally distributed across our major
businesses and can involve outside design services.

Our marketing team evaluates product concepts using several criteria, including Ñnancial return
metrics, and chooses which products will be developed and launched. Next, designers work closely
with our engineers and outside suppliers to co-develop products and processes that lead to more
eÇcient manufacturing while incorporating innovative user features. Products are tested for
performance, quality and compliance with applicable standards and regulations.

Exclusive of royalty payments, we have invested $137.2 in research, design and development
activities over the past three years. Royalties are sometimes paid to outside designers of our products
as the products are sold and are not included in the research, design and development costs since
they are variable based on product sales. The Company continues to invest approximately two
percent of its revenue in research and development each year. See Note 2 to the consolidated
Ñnancial statements for more information regarding research, design and development costs.

Intellectual Property

Steelcase's commitment to research and development has resulted in its being awarded more
design and utility patents than any other manufacturer in its industry. Currently, Steelcase holds
approximately 650 active U.S. design and utility patents for current and anticipated products, and
approximately 850 patents in other countries. The average remaining life of the utility patents in our
United States portfolio is approximately 11 years.

We occasionally enter into license agreements under which we pay a royalty to third parties for
the use of patented products, designs or process technology. We have also registered various
trademarks and service marks in the United States and other countries. Collectively, we hold
registrations for approximately 150 United States and 1,350 foreign trademarks. We have established
a global network of intellectual property licenses with our aÇliates. We also selectively license our
intellectual property to third parties as a revenue source. For example, our Leap» seating technology
has been licensed for use in automotive and aircraft seating, and we are pursuing other licensing
opportunities for this technology.

We do not believe that any material part of our business is dependent on the continued
availability of any one or all of our patents or trademarks, or that our business would be materially
adversely aÅected by the loss of any, except the ""Brayton,'' ""DesignTex,'' ""Details,'' ""Leap,''
""Metro,'' ""PolyVision,'' ""Steelcase,'' ""Turnstone,'' ""Vecta'' and ""Werndl'' trademarks.
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Working Capital

Our receivables are primarily from our dealers, and to a lesser degree, direct sell customers.
Payment terms vary by country and region. The terms of our North America and SDP segments, and
certain markets within the International segment, encourage prompt payment by oÅering a discount.
Other International markets have, by market convention, longer payment terms. We are not aware of
any special or unusual practices or conditions related to working capital items, including accounts
receivable, inventory and accounts payable, which are signiÑcant to understanding our business or the
industry at large.

Backlog

Our products are generally manufactured and shipped within four to six weeks following receipt of
order; therefore, we do not view the amount of backlog at any particular time as a meaningful
indicator of longer-term shipments.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the
discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment
(""Environmental Laws''). Subject to the matter noted below, and under Item 3, Legal Proceedings,
we believe our operations are in substantial compliance with all Environmental Laws. We do not
believe that existing Environmental Laws and regulations have had or will have any material eÅects
upon the capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position of the Company.

In June 2002, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (""EPA'') and Michigan
Department of Environmental Quality (""MDEQ'') conducted an inspection of the energy centers and
other air emission sources at the Steelcase facilities in Kentwood and Grand Rapids, Michigan.
Following the inspection, the EPA requested stack testing, which showed anomalous results for sulfur
dioxide. Additional testing conÑrmed that a supplier providing coal not meeting Steelcase's purchase
speciÑcations caused the anomalous results. To avoid future occurrences, Steelcase has changed the
process for testing coal prior to its use by the Company and will be adding continuous emissions
monitoring equipment. Although the MDEQ has concurred informally with our assessment of the cause
of the anomalous results and our changes in coal testing and emissions monitoring, it is still possible
that MDEQ or EPA could issue a notice of violation and seek penalties or other costs. Potential
penalties or costs cannot be estimated at this time.

Under certain Environmental Laws, Steelcase could be held liable, without regard to fault, for the
costs of remediation associated with our existing or historical operations. We could also be held
responsible for third-party property and personal injury claims or for violations of Environmental Laws
relating to contamination. Steelcase is a party to, or otherwise involved in, legal proceedings relating
to several contaminated properties being investigated and remediated under Environmental Laws.
Based on our information regarding the nature and volume of wastes allegedly disposed of or released
at these properties, the number of other Ñnancially viable potentially responsible parties and the total
estimated cleanup costs, we do not believe that the costs to us associated with these properties will
be material, either individually or in the aggregate. The Company has established reserves we believe
are adequate to cover our anticipated remediation costs. However, certain events could cause actual
costs or losses to vary from the established reserves. These events include, but are not limited to: a
change in governmental regulations and/or cleanup standards or requirements; undiscovered
information regarding the nature and volume of wastes allegedly disposed of or released at these
properties; and other factors increasing the cost of remediation or the loss of other potentially
responsible parties that are Ñnancially capable of contributing towards cleanup costs.
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Employees

As of February 25, 2005, Steelcase had approximately 14,500 workers, including approximately
8,100 hourly, 5,600 salaried employees and 800 temporary workers. Approximately 440 employees in
the United States are covered by collective bargaining agreements. Internationally, a signiÑcant
number of employees are covered by workers' councils that operate to promote the interests of
workers. Management believes that we continue to maintain strong relations with our employees.

Available Information

We Ñle annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (""SEC'') under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
""Exchange Act''). The public may read and copy any materials we Ñle with the SEC at the SEC's
Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding issuers, including Steelcase, that Ñle
electronically with the SEC.

We also make available free of charge through our Internet website, http://www.steelcase.com,
our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
any amendments to these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically Ñle such
reports with or furnish them to the SEC. In addition, the Company's governance guidelines and the
charters for the Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees are
available free of charge through our website or by writing to Investor Relations, PO Box 1967, Grand
Rapids, Michigan 49501-1967.

The Company adopted a code of ethics, known as the Steelcase Inc. Code of Ethics for Chief
Executive and Senior Financial OÇcers, which applies to our chief executive oÇcer, chief Ñnancial
oÇcer, controller and other persons performing similar functions. In addition, the Company adopted
the Steelcase Inc. Code of Business Conduct, which applies to all directors and employees worldwide.
These codes, including future amendments, are available free of charge through our website or by
writing to Investor Relations, PO Box 1967, Grand Rapids, Michigan 49501-1967. We will also post on
our website any waiver under the codes granted to any of our directors or executive oÇcers. As of the
date of this report, no waivers have been granted.

We are not including the information contained on our website as a part of, or incorporating it by
reference into, this Report.

Item 2. Properties:

The Company, including subsidiaries, has operations at locations throughout the United States
and around the world. None of our owned properties are mortgaged or are held subject to any
signiÑcant encumbrance. We believe our facilities are in good operating condition and that, at present,
are in excess of that needed to meet current volume needs and future increases. The Company is
currently reducing its owned properties to a more appropriate level. Our corporate headquarters is
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located in Grand Rapids, Michigan. Our owned and leased principal manufacturing and distribution
locations are as follows:

Number of Principal
Segment/Category Primarily Supported Locations Owned Leased

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11 10 1

SDPÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4 1 3

International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10 7 3

PolyVision (within the ""Other'' category) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 4 1

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30 22 8

In addition to the facilities included in the table above, we have six idle facilities. We are currently
holding for sale three of these facilities that are no longer in use, but are actively marketed. These
assets are reported as real estate held for sale included in Other Current Assets on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The remaining three idle facilities consist of manufacturing and oÇce space. These
facilities do not qualify as real estate held for sale since we do not expect to sell the space within the
next twelve months or are not currently marketing the space. In March of 2005, we announced plans
to close three additional manufacturing facilities which will become idle over the next two years. See
Note 5 of our consolidated Ñnancial statements for further information on property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings:

We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. Based on
known information, we do not believe we are a party to any lawsuit or proceeding that is likely to have
a material adverse eÅect on the Company.

In July 2004, the California South Coast Air Quality Management District (""SCAQMD'') issued a
Notice of Violation in connection with the transfer of Steelcase's California operations from Tustin to
City of Industry (""COI''). As a part of the operations transfer, certain environmental emission permits
were transferred from the Tustin facility to COI with the intent that Tustin be left with suÇcient
emission credits to conduct its wind-up operations. The Tustin facility was obligated to submit
quarterly reconciliations showing that the combined operations of Tustin and COI met the overall
permit limits. Although Tustin facility personnel submitted the reconciliations showing that overall
permit limits had been met, the Ñnal reconciliation was submitted several days late due to an
administrative oversight. Because of the late submission, the SCAQMD views the Tustin emissions as
exceeding applicable limits. Potential penalties, costs or assessments have not yet been sought and
cannot be estimated at this time.

In addition to the energy center issues noted under Environmental Matters, an additional issue
was identiÑed during the stack testing at the Grand Rapids energy center, when the diameter of the
exhaust stack was questioned. The interior diameter of the stack was measured and found to be
wider than the diameter speciÑed in the permit. On April 24, 2003, MDEQ issued a letter of violation
based on the non-compliant stack diameter. Steelcase conducted emission modeling, which conÑrmed
that the larger diameter does not eÅect emissions. The MDEQ has indicated that it will not seek any
penalty or other costs under the notice of violation.

For a description of other matters relating to our compliance with applicable environmental laws,
rules and regulations, see Environmental Matters in Item 1 of this Report.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders:

None.

Supplementary Item. Executive OÇcers of the Registrant:

Executive oÇcers include:

Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45 Senior Vice President, Global Operations OÇcer

Jon D. Botsford ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50 Senior Vice President, Secretary and Chief Legal OÇcer

Mark T. Greiner ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 53 Senior Vice President, WorkSpace Futures

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏ 50 President and Chief Executive OÇcer, Director

Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏÏ 53 Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative OÇcer

James P. KeaneÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial OÇcer

Michael I. LoveÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56 President and Chief Executive OÇcer, Steelcase Design Partnership

Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏ 54 President, Steelcase North America

James G. Mitchell ÏÏÏÏ 55 President, Steelcase International

Mark A. Baker has been Senior Vice President, Global Operations OÇcer since September 2004.
Mr. Baker served as Senior Vice President, Operations from November 2001 to September 2004.
Mr. Baker served as Vice President, Manufacturing Operations from March to November 2001. From
1999 to 2001, Mr. Baker served as Vice President, Marketing.

Jon D. Botsford has been Senior Vice President, Secretary and Chief Legal OÇcer since June
2000. Mr. Botsford served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary from 1999 to
2000.

Mark T. Greiner has been Senior Vice President, WorkSpace Futures since November 2002.
Mr. Greiner was Senior Vice President, Research & Development, Concepts and Ventures from 2001
to 2002. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Greiner held the position of Senior Vice President, Global E-Business
and Chief Information OÇcer.

James P. Hackett has been President, Chief Executive OÇcer and Director of the Company since
December 1994. Mr. Hackett also serves as a Board Member to Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance
Company and Fifth Third Bancorp.

Nancy W. Hickey has been Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative OÇcer since November
2001. Ms. Hickey served as Senior Vice President, Global Human Resources from March to November
2001. From 1999 to 2001, Ms. Hickey served as Vice President, Human Resources.

James P. Keane has been Senior Vice President, Chief Financial OÇcer since April 2001.
Mr. Keane served as Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate Strategy from February to April
2001. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Keane served as Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy, Research
and Development.

Michael I. Love has been President and Chief Executive OÇcer, Steelcase Design Partnership
since May 2000. Mr. Love was President of Vecta, a division of Steelcase, from 1994 to 2000.

Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. has been President, Steelcase North America since September 2002. From
1999 to 2002, Mr. Merlotti was President and Chief Executive OÇcer of G&T Industries, a
manufacturer and distributor of fabricated foam and soft-surface materials.

James G. Mitchell has been President, Steelcase International since June 2004. Mr. Mitchell
served as Managing Director, United Kingdom, from 2003 to June 2004. From 1999 to 2003,
Mr. Mitchell was President of Steelcase Canada.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities:

The Class A Common Stock of Steelcase Inc. is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol ""SCS''. Our Class B Common Stock is neither registered under the Securities Act of 1933
nor publicly traded. See Note 10 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements for further discussion of our
common stock. As of April 27, 2005, we had outstanding 148,869,219 shares of common stock with
10,656 shareholders of record. Of these amounts, 64,181,028 shares are Class A Common Stock with
10,520 shareholders of record and 84,688,191 shares are Class B Common Stock with 136
shareholders of record.

Class A Common Stock End of First Second Third Fourth
Day Per Share Price Range Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Fiscal 2005
High ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14.36 $14.07 $14.65 $14.15
Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $11.40 $11.80 $12.71 $12.72

Fiscal 2004
High ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10.58 $12.43 $13.55 $14.50
Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8.64 $10.60 $11.23 $12.84

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and to compliance with
applicable law. Dividends in 2005 and 2004 were declared and paid quarterly. The amount and timing
of future dividends depends upon our results of operations, Ñnancial condition, cash requirements,
future business prospects, general business conditions and other factors that the Board may deem
relevant at the time.

Total Dividends Paid

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.9 $8.9 $8.9 $8.9 $35.6
2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.8 $8.9 $8.9 $8.9 $35.5

The Board of Directors has authorized share repurchases of up to 11 million shares. We did not
repurchase any common shares during 2005, 2004, or 2003. Approximately 3.8 million shares remain
available for repurchase under the program and we have no outstanding share repurchase
commitments. Since the inception of our repurchase program, 7.2 million shares have been
repurchased for $112.7 million.

See Item 12 of this Report for information on our equity compensation plans.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data:

Operating Results
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,613.8 $2,345.6 $2,529.9 $3,038.3 $3,989.2
Revenue increase (decrease) ÏÏ 11.4% (7.3)% (16.7)% (23.8)% 17.3%
Gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 745.7 $ 615.3 $ 728.1 $ 918.2 $1,295.2
Gross proÑtÌ% of revenueÏÏÏÏÏ 28.5% 26.2% 28.8% 30.2% 32.5%
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income tax
expense (beneÑt)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.0 $ (92.9) $ (66.7) $ (5.3) $ 301.0

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income tax
expense (beneÑt)Ì% of
revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2% (4.0)% (2.6)% (0.2)% 7.5%

Income (loss) from continuing
operations after income tax
expense (beneÑt)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 11.7 $ (42.0) $ (41.6) $ (2.1) $ 191.5

Income (loss) from continuing
operations after income tax
expense (beneÑt)Ì% of
revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.4% (1.8)% (1.6)% (0.1)% 4.8%

Income and gain from
discontinued operations(2)ÏÏÏ $ 1.0 $ 22.4 $ 4.7 $ 3.1 $ 2.2

Cumulative eÅect of accounting
change, net of income
taxes(3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì $ (4.2) $ (229.9) Ì Ì

Net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12.7 $ (23.8) $ (266.8) $ 1.0 $ 193.7
Net income (loss)Ì% of

revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.5% (1.0)% (10.5)% 0.0% 4.9%
Share and Per Share Data
Income (loss) from continuing

operationsÌbasic and diluted $ 0.08 $ (0.28) $ (0.28) $ (0.01) $ 1.28
Income and gain from

discontinued operations:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ 0.15 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.02
DilutedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.01 $ 0.15 $ 0.03 $ 0.02 $ 0.01

Cumulative eÅect of accounting
changeÌbasic and diluted ÏÏÏ Ì $ (0.03) $ (1.56) Ì Ì

Earnings (loss):
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.09 $ (0.16) $ (1.81) $ 0.01 $ 1.30
DilutedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.09 $ (0.16) $ (1.81) $ 0.01 $ 1.29

Dividends declaredÌcommon
stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.24 $ 0.24 $ 0.24 $ 0.39 $ 0.44

Financial Condition
Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 447.8 $ 401.0 $ 334.3 $ 208.9 $ 319.8
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,364.6 $2,359.4 $2,354.9 $2,967.5 $3,157.0
Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 258.1 $ 319.6 $ 294.2 $ 433.6 $ 327.5

(1) The Ñscal year ended February 28, 2003 contained 53 weeks. All other years shown contained
52 weeks.

(2) Income and gain from discontinued operations relate to the disposition of our Attwood subsidiary.
See the Consolidated Statements of Income and Note 16 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements
for more information.
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(3) Cumulative eÅect of accounting change for the Ñscal year ended February 27, 2004 relates to
our adoption of FASB Interpretation Number (""FIN'') 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities. Cumulative eÅect of accounting change for the Ñscal year ended February 28, 2003
relates to our adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. See Notes 2 and 7 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements
for more information.

(4) Operating Results Data for Ñscal years 2004 and 2003, and Financial Condition Data for 2004
and 2003, have been restated to reÖect adjustments that are further discussed in Note 3,
Restatement of Financial Statements, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 8 of this report. The Company considers these restatement adjustments to be immaterial.
Earlier periods have not been restated because of the insigniÑcance of the amounts involved and
because those years are not presented in the consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations:

The following review of our Ñnancial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated Ñnancial statements and notes to the consolidated Ñnancial
statements included within this Form 10-K.

Financial Summary

Results of Operations

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,613.8 100.0% $2,345.6 100.0% $2,529.9 100.0%
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,859.9 71.2 1,688.0 72.0 1,785.3 70.6
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.2 0.3 42.3 1.8 16.5 0.6

Gross proÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 745.7 28.5 615.3 26.2 728.1 28.8
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 722.3 27.6 678.5 29.0 745.6 29.5
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.2 0.2 11.2 0.4 44.7 1.8

Operating income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏ 18.2 0.7 (74.4) (3.2) (62.2) (2.4)
Non-operating items, net ÏÏÏÏÏ (13.2) (0.5) (18.5) (0.8) (4.5) (0.2)

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income
tax beneÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.0 0.2 (92.9) (4.0) (66.7) (2.6)

Income tax beneÑtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.7) (0.3) (50.9) (2.2) (25.1) (1.0)

Income (loss) from continuing
operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.7 0.5 (42.0) (1.8) (41.6) (1.7)

Discontinued operations, netÏÏ 1.0 0.0 22.4 1.0 4.7 0.2

Income (loss) before
cumulative eÅect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.7 0.5 (19.6) (0.8) (36.9) (1.5)

Cumulative eÅect of
accounting change, net ÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (4.2) (0.2) (229.9) (9.1)

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12.7 0.5% $ (23.8) (1.0)% $ (266.8) (10.5)%

(1) The Ñscal year ended February 28, 2003 contained 53 weeks. All other years shown contained
52 weeks. Income Statement Data for 2004 and 2003 is restated to reÖect adjustments related
to lease accounting that are discussed in Note 3, Restatement of Financial Statements, of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this report.
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Restatement of Financial Statements

The Company has completed a review of its lease accounting policies and is correcting its
method of accounting for certain leases by restating Ñnancial statements for 2004 and 2003. The
restatement increased net loss by $0.6 and $0.7 in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and reduced
retained earnings by $2.1 at February 22, 2002 from $1,320.6 to $1,318.5. The restatement had no
impact on revenue or operating cash Öows and, due to rounding, had no impact on earnings per
share. The Company considers these restatement adjustments to be immaterial.

The Company initiated its review of its lease accounting in response to a public letter published
by the Chief Accountant of the SEC on February 7, 2005. The correction involves recording expense
for leases with escalating rents on a straight-line basis over the lease term, rather than as payable.
The Company's Audit Committee, meeting on March 24, 2005, concurred with management's
recommendation that the Company should restate the Ñnancial statements.

In addition, the Company's investments in auction rate securities of $80.0 have been reclassiÑed
in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet as short-term investments for 2004. Previously, these
investments were classiÑed as cash and cash equivalents. This reclassiÑcation also resulted in
changes to the Company's 2004 and 2003 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary of the eÅects of these
changes on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 27, 2004, as well as on our Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Cash Flows for 2004 and 2003.

Overview

Steelcase returned to proÑtability in 2005.

After experiencing a three-year sales decline in the global oÇce furniture industry, the industry
has begun to show signs of sustained recovery in the past year. In calendar year 2004, the industry
grew by approximately 5% in the United States according to the Business and Institutional Furniture
Manufacturer's Association International.

Our revenue increased 11.4% in 2005 compared to 2004 following a decline of 7.3% from 2003
to 2004. As compared to 2004, revenue beneÑted by $80.1 from dealers consolidated in 2005 and
$41.3 from favorable currency translation eÅects in our International segment.

Operating income improved $92.6 in 2005 primarily due to lower restructuring charges, the
beneÑts realized from lean initiatives and prior restructuring activities. These improvements were
partially oÅset by increases in commodity prices, increases in variable compensation expense, and
disruptions from current year plant consolidations.

Other income (expense), net, improved $5.3 in 2005 primarily due to interest income, gains on
dealer transitions, and joint venture income. See further detail of the items in Other income
(expense), net, in Note 12.

We recorded net pre-tax operating charges for restructuring items totaling $13.4 in 2005, as
compared to $53.5 in 2004, and $61.2 in 2003. The net charges in 2005 consisted of severance and
asset impairment costs associated with consolidation of our North America wood plants and process
outsourcing activities in International. See further discussion and detail of all these items in the
Segment Disclosure analysis below and in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.

During Q2 2004, we sold substantially all of the net assets of our marine hardware and
accessories business with the operating results of this business segregated as discontinued
operations for all periods presented. See further discussion and detail in Note 16 to the consolidated
Ñnancial statements.

The cumulative eÅect of accounting change in 2004 represents the net after-tax charge related to
our adoption of FIN 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. See further discussion and
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detail in Note 2 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements. The cumulative eÅect of accounting change
in 2003 represents the net after-tax charge related to our adoption of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets. See Note 7 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements for more information
regarding goodwill and other intangible assets.

As mentioned in Note 2 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements, the consolidation of two North
America dealers and nine International dealers had no material eÅect on our 2005 net income.

Interest Expense; Other Income (Expense), Net; and Income Taxes

Year Ended

February 25, February 27, February 28,
Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), net 2005 2004 2003

Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 20.9 $ 18.5 $20.9

Other income (expense), net:
Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6.7 $ 3.5 $ 3.8
Gain (loss) on dealer transitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.2 (8.7) (8.3)
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1) 9.8 16.4
Joint venture income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.0 1.2 0.6
Miscellaneous, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.1) (5.8) 3.9

Total other income (expense), net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.7 $ Ì $16.4

Total non-operating items, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (13.2) $(18.5) $(4.5)

EÅective income tax rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (133.9%) 55.0% 37.5%

The majority of the Company's debt over the past several years related to term notes with Ñxed
interest rates. Interest expense increased in 2005 primarily due to $2.9 in additional interest expense
from the consolidation of debt from variable interest entities. Interest on our term notes has been
stable since 2003 because the interest rates are Ñxed.

Interest income increased in 2005 primarily due to higher cash and investment balances and
higher interest rates.

In 2005, we recorded a gain on dealer transitions which represented an equity return related to a
previous International dealer transition and a recovery on dealer transition Ñnancing that was
previously reserved. Losses on dealer transitions in prior years relate to uncollectible funds loaned to
or invested in dealers to Ñnance ownership changes. The majority of the loss recorded in 2004 related
to an International dealer transition investment originally made in 1999. We took over full ownership of
this dealer during 2004 and reduced the carrying value of the investment to the net book value of the
underlying tangible assets, which approximated its fair value. During 2003, we recognized losses on
dealer transitions primarily related to two International dealers that were signiÑcantly aÅected by the
oÇce furniture recession in their markets. Losses on dealer transitions do not include write-oÅs of
receivables that have arisen as a result of product sales. Charges for write-oÅs associated with trade
receivables from these aÇliates are recorded as operating expenses.

We carefully monitor the Ñnancial condition of dealers in ownership transition. Most of the dealers
that have transition Ñnancing from Steelcase have successfully reduced costs and taken other steps
to manage through the downturn. However, we have established reserves for certain dealers facing
diÇcult Ñnancial challenges. We believe our reserves adequately reÖect the credit risk associated with
these dealers. If these dealers experience additional Ñnancial challenges, the likelihood of losses
would increase and we would record additional charges or reserves, as necessary.

During 2004, we recorded a gain on disposal of property and equipment primarily related to
property sold in the United Kingdom for net cash proceeds of $11.5 and a pre-tax non-operating gain
of $7.0. This facility was idle for about three years as a result of prior restructuring activities. The gain
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in 2003 was primarily related to the sale of our Tustin, California manufacturing facility following the
relocation of the operations to a smaller, more eÇcient facility. We received net cash proceeds of
$35.7 and recorded a gain of $15.1 on the Tustin facility sale.

Miscellaneous, net includes items such as gains and losses on foreign exchange and gains and
losses on the sale of venture investments.

In 2005, we recorded an $8.2 reduction in a speciÑc tax reserve. The tax reserve was originally
recorded in response to a Ñscal 1997 tax calculation that was later rejected by the IRS. At the time of
the rejection, we recorded a reserve for the total amount of the deduction while we challenged the
IRS's decision. During Q3 2005, the Tax Court ruled favorably on a similar case related to another
company. Because we believed this precedent supported our position, we reduced the original
reserve by $6.5. During Q4 2005, the IRS agreed to settle the claim and the tax reserve was adjusted
by an additional $1.7.

We calculated our tax expense for 2005 using a 30% rate and then adjusted it for the $8.2
favorable reserve reduction. We expect our long-term eÅective tax rate to remain between 37% and
38%.

Segment Disclosure

See more information regarding segments in Part I Item 1 and Note 15 of the consolidated
Ñnancial statements included with this Report.

North America

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,439.4 100.0% $1,280.4 100.0% $1,497.9 100.0%
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,086.3 75.5 981.2 76.6 1,121.2 74.9
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.8 0.5 21.6 1.7 9.2 0.6

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 345.3 24.0 277.6 21.7 367.5 24.5
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 338.8 23.5 319.1 24.9 360.4 24.1
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 0.1 5.4 0.4 26.2 1.7

Operating income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.5 0.4% $ (46.9) (3.6)% $ (19.1) (1.3)%

North America was proÑtable in 2005 on higher revenue and improved gross proÑt margins.
Performance improved due to lower restructuring charges in the period and beneÑts realized from
prior restructuring actions.

Revenue increased 12.4% in 2005 following a decline in 2004 of 14.5%. 2005 revenue growth
was primarily supported by sales to large customers which grew in excess of 25% from 2004.
Additionally, Turnstone brand sales of moderately priced products increased over 35% in 2005.
Revenue also included $57.0 from the dealers newly consolidated in 2005.

Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue improved 1.1 percentage points in 2005. Improved
overhead absorption, continued implementation of lean manufacturing principles, along with other
operational improvements more than oÅset the negative impacts of rising commodity prices, increased
variable compensation and other expenses. Disruption caused by the rationalization of two
manufacturing plants also negatively impacted gross proÑt throughout much of 2005, particularly in
the second half of the year.

In the Ñrst quarter of Ñscal 2005, we implemented a steel surcharge in North America to cover
the rising price of steel. The impact of the increased steel costs, net of increased revenue, reduced
gross margins by 1.1% of sales.
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Restructuring costs reported separately from cost of sales in 2005 related to the consolidation of
our furniture manufacturing facilities. These costs included $6.3 in severance costs for workforce
reductions and $4.0 for asset impairments partially oÅset by a curtailment gain of $2.5 for post-
retirement medical beneÑts. Restructuring items included within 2004 and 2003 cost of sales primarily
consisted of severance costs for workforce reductions and asset impairment charges.

In 2006, we expect to continue to reduce excess capacity resulting from the implementation of
lean manufacturing principles and other operational improvements. We announced additional
restructuring activities in March 2005. The estimated net pre-tax restructuring charges of $25 to $30
over the next two years related to these activities consist of net costs of employee terminations, the
impairment of certain Ñxed assets and the cost of relocating production lines. As part of these
consolidation eÅorts, we expect to reduce excess manufacturing space by approximately 2.6 million
square feet over the next two years. Once this two-year project is complete, we expect annual pretax
savings of approximately $35 to $45.

The improvement in operating expenses as a percentage of revenue in 2005 compared to 2004
was primarily a result of continued cost control and higher volume. The improvement was partially
oÅset by an increase in variable compensation expense of $33.0 and $17.4 from the dealers newly
consolidated in 2005.

Restructuring charges that are separate components of operating expenses in 2005, 2004, and
2003 represented severance costs for workforce reductions, net of curtailment gains.

We maintain loss reserves related to dealer trade receivables, and we closely monitor the Ñnancial
condition of our dealers. We have processes that allow us to monitor and react quickly to changes in
the credit quality of our dealers. We believe our reserves adequately reÖect the credit risks associated
with the dealer trade receivables. However, if our dealers are not able to reduce costs and take other
necessary steps during an industry downturn, the likelihood of losses would increase and additional
charges or reserves would be necessary.

Steelcase Design Partnership

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $322.2 100.0% $275.6 100.0% $291.2 100.0%
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 199.9 62.0 172.9 62.7 180.3 61.9
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 0.2 0.1 Ì Ì

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 122.3 38.0 102.5 37.2 110.9 38.1
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 96.1 29.9 88.8 32.2 95.0 32.6
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 0.9 0.4 1.4 0.5

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 26.2 8.1% $ 12.8 4.6% $ 14.5 5.0%

SDP improved proÑtability signiÑcantly in 2005. Revenue for the SDP segment increased 16.9% in
2005 following a decline of 5.4% in 2004. Each of the brands within SDP reported signiÑcant sales
growth for the year, and growth was strong across most diÅerent product categories.

SDP has the highest margins among all of our segments. Gross margins as a percent of revenue
improved to 38.0% in 2005 compared to 37.2% in 2004 primarily due to the spread of Ñxed costs
over a higher volume of sales and favorable product mix. Margins were also improved due to
continued cost containment eÅorts, partially oÅset by higher commodity costs.

Operating expenses as a percent of revenue decreased during 2005 primarily due to higher
volume and continued cost control partially oÅset by higher variable compensation expenses and
increased product development and showroom spending. Restructuring costs related to operating
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expenses in 2004 included $0.7 for lease impairments and $0.2 of severance charges for workforce
reductions.

International

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $590.5 100.0% $539.2 100.0% $485.9 100.0%
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 411.7 69.7 383.5 71.1 345.1 71.0
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.6) (0.1) 20.5 3.8 6.7 1.4

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 179.4 30.4 135.2 25.1 134.1 27.6
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 181.0 30.7 161.3 29.9 154.1 31.7
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.8 0.6 1.4 0.3 7.1 1.5

Operating loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (5.4) (0.9)% $(27.5) (5.1)% $(27.1) (5.6)%

International operating results signiÑcantly improved in 2005 with a $22.1 reduction in operating
loss. The improved results were driven by lower restructuring costs and improved cost of goods sold.

Revenue increased 9.5% in 2005 due to $41.3 from favorable currency translation eÅects and
$23.1 from dealers consolidated in 2005. In 2004, revenue increased 11.0% due to the beneÑt of
$77.1 from favorable currency translation eÅects. International revenue is closely linked to economic
conditions in France, Germany, Spain and the United Kingdom and to a lesser extent, other Western
European countries. The International segment saw shipment declines in many of these markets in the
current year. Fourth quarter revenues and order patterns seem to suggest that the economic
environment is stabilizing in these markets as we enter 2006. Eastern and Central European, Latin
American and Asia PaciÑc export markets posted modest growth in 2005 compared to varied results
in 2004.

Gross margins as a percent of revenue improved to 30.4% in 2005 from 25.1% in 2004 primarily
due to lower restructuring costs and beneÑts from prior restructuring activities. The 2004 restructuring
costs primarily related to the closure or consolidation of manufacturing facilities, including workforce
reductions. Restructuring costs in 2003 primarily related to charges for workforce reductions and
business exit costs.

Operating expenses in absolute terms increased in 2005, primarily due to $12.6 of currency
translation eÅects and $11.6 related to dealer consolidations. Restructuring costs related to operating
expenses in 2005, 2004 and 2003 primarily consisted of charges related to workforce reductions and
business exit costs.

Economic conditions in certain countries continue to put proÑtability pressure on some of our
dealers. We continue to monitor the Ñnancial condition of dealers for changes in credit quality but we
believe our reserves adequately reÖect these credit risks. However, if dealers experience a deeper
reduction in revenues, the likelihood of losses would increase and additional charges or reserves
would be necessary.
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Other

Year Ended

February 27, February 28,
February 25, 2004 2003

Income Statement DataÌOther 2005 (As Restated) (As Restated)

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $261.7 $250.4 $254.9
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.4 3.5 10.6
Operating loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.1) (12.8) (30.5)

Our Other category includes our PolyVision, IDEO, and Financial Services subsidiaries, and
unallocated corporate expenses. The reduction in operating loss in 2005 was due to several factors
including:

‚ improvements in the operating results of Financial Services primarily due to lower credit
charges in 2005 and lower administrative expenses; and

‚ improvements in the operating results of IDEO and PolyVision.

Approximately 85% of corporate expenses representing shared services are charged to the
operating segments as part of a corporate allocation. The unallocated portion of these expenses is
considered general corporate costs and is reported within the Other category. Revenue and costs of
exploring new business opportunities within new market niches or areas related to, but not part of, our
core business activities are considered ventures, and are reported in the Other category.

Restructuring costs included in 2005 operating results included a PolyVision lease impairment and
workforce reductions. Restructuring costs in 2004 and 2003 primarily related to workforce reductions.

Over the past two years, our Financial Services subsidiary has implemented a new strategy in
which we originate leases for customers and earn an origination fee on that service. We use a third
party to provide lease funding. As a result, we no longer have credit or residual risk related to those
leases. Additionally, we sold a substantial portion of our old leasing portfolio during 2003 and 2004.
As a result, our overall credit exposure to our underlying net investment in these older leases has
decreased. We have processes that allow us to monitor and react quickly to changes in the credit
quality of our lease customers. The overall credit quality of our portfolio improved during 2005 and our
risk of exposure decreased as customers became more Ñnancially stable and as balances declined
with normal lease payments. We reduced some previously established credit reserves by $4.7 in 2005
due to the improved performance on speciÑc leases. We closely monitor our receivable exposure and
the overall Ñnancial condition of the dealers in North America to whom we extend working capital
Ñnancing. Although we believe reserves are adequate in total, deterioration in the Ñnancial stability of
larger customers and dealers would likely require us to record additional charges and reserves.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity

The following table summarizes our statement of cash Öows:

Year Ended

February 27, February 28,
February 25, 2004 2003

2005 (As Restated) (As Restated)

Net cash Öow provided by (used in):
Operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 114.7 $ 87.9 $ 48.7
Investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (25.7) 19.3 318.3
Financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (60.3) (56.8) (301.7)
EÅect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.7 2.9 2.7

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34.4 53.3 68.0
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 182.2 128.9 60.9

Cash and cash equivalents, end of periodÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 216.6 $182.2 $ 128.9

During 2005, we increased cash and cash equivalents by $34.4 to a balance of $216.6 as of
February 25, 2005, our highest level of cash since 1998. These funds and our short-term investments,
in addition to cash generated from future operations and available credit facilities, are expected to be
suÇcient to Ñnance our known or foreseeable liquidity and capital needs. The increase in cash and
cash equivalents was due to a number of factors. Operating activities generated cash from net
income plus depreciation and amortization which is added back to net income. Depreciation and
amortization continue to be much higher than current levels of capital expenditures. Financing
activities used cash to pay down debt and to pay dividends.

Cash and cash equivalents include $24.4 invested in a money market fund, the use of which is
restricted as collateral primarily for our accrued liability related to our workers' compensation program.
If this restricted cash is needed for liquidity purposes, we can replace the collateral for our workers'
compensation program with a letter of credit and have full access to the proceeds of the money
market fund.

During 2005, we reclassiÑed our investments in auction rate securities from cash and cash
equivalents to short-term investments. Auction rate securities classiÑed as short-term investments
were $131.4 and $80.0 as of February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004, respectively. These
investments are typically held for approximately 30 days, and all investments held at year-end were
converted to cash by March 29, 2005. Because auction rate securities are no longer classiÑed as
cash, acquisitions of investments in these securities are a use of cash from investing activities and
liquidations of these securities are a source of cash from investing activities. Notes 2 and 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements provide more information regarding this reclassiÑcation.

We look at various scenarios for cash planning purposes. In one possible scenarioÌa substantial
and rapid increase in revenue in a short period of timeÌwe anticipate we would likely experience a
corresponding rapid increase in accounts receivables and inventories. This rapid increase in required
working capital would represent a signiÑcant use of cash. We retain suÇcient cash balances to
respond to working capital needs driven by a rapid increase in revenue.

SigniÑcant uses of cash in Q1 2006 include approximately $51.0 in debt repayments and an
annual payment of $36.3 related to 2005 variable compensation.
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Cash provided by operating activities

Net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12.7 $ (23.8) $(266.8)
Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 127.6 141.4 157.4
Gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (31.9) Ì
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.7) (34.2) (42.5)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 4.2 229.9
Changes in operating assets and liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (25.3) (13.7) (44.1)
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.4 45.9 14.8

Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $114.7 $ 87.9 $ 48.7

Cash Öow provided by operating activities was suÇcient to fund our capital expenditure needs for
2005 and we expect this trend to continue.

The year-to-year change in cash generated from operating activities was primarily due to
improvements in year-over-year income from continuing operations. Additionally, Other, net, decreased
primarily due to current year restructuring payments, lower charges related to dealer transitions and
Ñxed asset impairments and disposals.

Most of the change in cash generated from operating activities from 2003 to 2004 was due to a
reduction in net loss, a gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operations in 2004, a cumulative
eÅect of accounting change in 2003, and changes in operating assets and liabilities. The changes in
operating assets and liabilities were primarily driven by lower revenue, lower manufacturing volume,
and implementation of lean manufacturing principles.

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Capital expendituresÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(49.2) $ (43.0) $(76.5)
Short-term investments, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (51.4) (80.0) 8.5
Net proceeds from repayments of lease fundings ÏÏÏÏÏ 32.3 23.2 (8.0)
Proceeds from the sales of leased assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.7 48.8 302.0
Proceeds from the disposal of Ñxed assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.8 28.8 55.6
Net decrease (increase) in notes receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.1 (6.2) 26.0
Proceeds on sale of net assets of discontinued

operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 47.9 Ì
Other, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 (0.2) 10.7

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ÏÏÏ $(25.7) $ 19.3 $318.3

We used cash in investing activities in 2005 primarily for the net acquisition of short-term
investments in auction rate securities (see Note 2) and capital expenditures. We continue to closely
scrutinize capital spending to ensure we are making the right investments to sustain the business and
to preserve our ability to introduce innovative, new products. In 2005, capital expenditures were less
than half of depreciation, which represented a source of cash.
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In 2004 and 2003, we generated cash from investing activities primarily from the sale of leased
and Ñxed assets and the sale of our Attwood facility in 2004. The sale of leased assets was primarily
due to the new lease funding strategy implemented by our Financial Services subsidiary in 2004. In
preparation for its new strategy, Financial Services sold a large portion of its lease portfolio in 2003
and continued to sell a portion of the remaining leased assets during 2004 and 2005. Under its new
strategy, Financial Services continues to originate leases for customers, but uses a third party to
provide lease funding. A signiÑcant amount of the cash generated from these activities was used to
increase our short-term investment portfolio.

Proceeds from the disposal of Ñxed assets in 2005 and 2004 were primarily from the sale of
domestic and international manufacturing facilities and related equipment.

We have signiÑcantly reduced our capital expenditures in the past three years to limit new
projects to those that meet key economic metrics and deliver short payback cost savings or support
critical strategic initiatives such as product development. At the end of 2005, our committed capital
expenditures totaled $19.5 and related primarily to the purchase of a new corporate aircraft which will
replace a corporate aircraft that we currently own in Q1 2006. In 2006, we expect to receive proceeds
of approximately $15 from the sale of the corporate aircraft that we currently own.

Cash used in Ñnancing activities

Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(35.6) $(35.5) $ (35.4)
Short-term and long-term debt, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (28.8) (22.9) (270.1)
Common stock issuance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.1 1.6 3.8

Net cash used in Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(60.3) $(56.8) $(301.7)

We used cash in Ñnancing activities in 2005 primarily to pay down debt and to pay common
stock dividends to our shareholders. We paid common stock dividends of $0.24 per share in 2005,
2004 and 2003. The dividend declared by the Board of Directors was $0.06 per share in each quarter
of 2005, 2004, and 2003.

We issued common stock in 2005 for proceeds of $4.1 related to the exercise of employee stock
options. See Note 11 of the consolidated Ñnancial statements for further discussion regarding the
Company's stock-based incentive plans.

The Board of Directors has authorized share repurchases of up to 11 million shares. We did not
repurchase any common shares during 2005, 2004 or 2003. Approximately 3.8 million shares remain
available for repurchase under the program and we have no outstanding share repurchase
commitments. Since the inception of our repurchase program, 7.2 million shares have been
repurchased for $112.7 million.

Capital Resources

OÅ-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are contingently liable under loan guarantees for certain Steelcase dealers and joint ventures
in the event of default or non-performance of the Ñnancial repayment of the liability. Due to the
contingent nature of guarantees, the full value of the guarantees are not recorded on our consolidated
balance sheets; however, we have reserves recorded to cover potential losses. See Note 14 to the
consolidated Ñnancial statements for more information regarding Ñnancial instruments, concentrations
of credit risk, commitments, guarantees and contingencies.
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Contractual Obligations

Our contractual obligations as of February 25, 2005 are as follows:

Long-term debt and short-term borrowings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $325.7 $ 67.6 $258.1 $ Ì $ Ì
Estimated interest on debt obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34.7 18.4 16.3 Ì Ì
Operating leasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 291.2 52.1 76.1 57.1 105.9
Committed capital expendituresÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.5 19.5 Ì Ì Ì
Purchase obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.9 7.9 Ì Ì Ì
Other long-term liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 270.1 52.6 43.3 46.6 127.6

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $949.1 $218.1 $393.8 $103.7 $233.5

Total consolidated debt as of February 25, 2005 was $325.7. The $28.3 decrease in total debt
from 2004 was driven by debt repayments. Our debt to capital ratio was 21.4% at year-end. Of our
total debt, $249.5 is in the form of term notes due November 2006. We are currently considering
various options regarding the maturity of the term notes, one of which is to have a replacement facility
in place before the senior notes expire. Additionally, we have notes payable due at various times
through 2007. We expect to pay the amounts due on the notes as they expire.

Of the $67.6 of debt payments due in 2005 (as presented in the contractual obligations table
above), $9.6 relates to foreign currency notes payable and revolving credit facility obligations. Of the
remaining $58.0 balance related to United States dollar notes payable obligations, we expect to repay
$51.0 as it becomes due in Q1 2006.

The Company has commitments related to certain sales oÇces, showrooms, and equipment
under non-cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2020. Minimum payments
for operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are
presented in the contractual obligation table above.

Committed capital expenditures represent obligations we have related to property, plant and
equipment purchases. See more detail under the Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
section.

We deÑne purchase obligations as non-cancelable signed contracts to purchase goods or
services beyond the needs of meeting current backlog or production.

Other long-term liabilities represent contribution and beneÑt payments expected to be made for
our deÑned contribution, deferred compensation, pension and post-retirement beneÑt plans. It should
be noted our obligations related to post-retirement beneÑt plans are not contractual and the plans
could be amended at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. We
limited our disclosure of contributions and beneÑt payments to 10 years as information beyond this
time period was not available. See Note 9 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements for further
discussion regarding these plans.

The contractual obligations table above is current as of February 25, 2005. The amounts of these
obligations could change materially over time as new contracts or obligations are initiated and existing
contracts or obligations are terminated or modiÑed.
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Our total liquidity facilities as of February 25, 2005 were:

Amount

Global committed bank facility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $250.0
Various uncommitted lines ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 130.1

Total credit lines available ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 380.1
Less: borrowings outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.8

Available capacity (subject to covenant
constraints) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $372.3

At February 25, 2005, we had no borrowings against our $250.0 3-year global committed bank
facility. Our obligations under this facility are unsecured and unsubordinated. The Company may, at its
option, and subject to customary conditions, request to increase the aggregate commitment by up to
$100.0 by obtaining at least one commitment from one or more lenders. This facility and certain of our
other Ñnancing and lease facilities require us to satisfy Ñnancial covenants including a minimum net
worth covenant, a maximum debt ratio covenant, a minimum interest coverage ratio covenant and an
asset coverage ratio covenant. In October 2003, Moody's Investor Services lowered its rating on the
Company to Ba1, thus activating the asset ratio covenant. Although we have $372.3 of available
capacity, our maximum debt ratio covenant would limit additional borrowings to approximately $122.6
as of February 25, 2005. As of February 25, 2005, we were in compliance with all covenants under
this facility and our other Ñnancing and lease facilities. The amounts available to us under the various
uncommitted lines are subject to change or cancellation by the banks at any time. Our long-term debt
rating is BBB¿ from Standard & Poor's and Ba1 from Moody's Investor Service.

On October 13, 2004, we Ñled a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and
Exchange Commission that will allow the Company to oÅer various types of securities from time to
time in the future. The shelf registration statement includes a primary component of up to $200.0 of
debt securities and a secondary component of up to 7.5 million shares of Class A common stock.

Critical accounting policies

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition is based
upon our consolidated Ñnancial statements and accompanying notes. The Company's Ñnancial
statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These principles require the use of estimates and assumptions that aÅect
amounts reported and disclosed in the Ñnancial statements and related notes. Although these
estimates are based on historical data and management's knowledge of current events and actions it
may undertake in the future, actual results may diÅer from the estimates if diÅerent conditions occur.
The accounting policies that typically involve a higher degree of judgment, estimates and complexity
are listed and explained below. These policies were discussed with the Audit Committee and aÅect all
segments of the Company.

Impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill represents the diÅerence between the purchase price and the related underlying
tangible and identiÑable intangible net asset values resulting from business acquisitions. Annually, or if
conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, the carrying value of the reporting unit is compared
to an estimate of its fair value. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements, if the
estimated fair value is less than the carrying value, goodwill is impaired and will be written down to its
estimated fair value. Goodwill is assigned to and the fair value is tested at the reporting unit level.
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We evaluate goodwill using Ñve reporting units Ì North America, SDP, International, PolyVision and
IDEO. As of February 25, 2005, we had $210.2 of goodwill recorded on our balance sheet as follows:

Recorded
Reporting Unit Goodwill

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 45.1
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏ 63.2
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 42.5
PolyVision ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 53.4
IDEOÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.0

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $210.2

During Q4 2005, we performed our annual impairment assessment of goodwill in our reporting
units consistent with the prior year. In testing for potential impairment, we measured the estimated fair
value of our reporting units using a combination of two methods based upon a discounted cash Öow
valuation (""DCF'') and a market value approach (""MVA''). The Ñrst method used a 100% weighting
factor based on DCF while the second valuation was based upon 50% of DCF and 50% of MVA. In
either case, we concluded no impairment existed in any reporting unit.

The DCF analysis was based on the present value of projected cash Öows and a residual value
and used the following assumptions:

‚ A business is worth today what it can generate in future cash to its owners;

‚ Cash received today is worth more than an equal amount of cash received in the future; and

‚ Future cash Öows can be reasonably estimated.

The MVA used a set of four comparable companies to derive a range of market multiples for the
last twelve months' revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. The
MVA was not calculated for PolyVision or IDEO as there is no comparable market data available to
make these calculations meaningful.

As of the valuation date, the enterprise value available for goodwill determined by each method
described above is in excess of the underlying reported value of the goodwill as follows:

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $926.1 $886.1
Steelcase Design PartnershipÏÏÏÏ 215.6 219.6
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 99.3 112.3
PolyVisionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 62.8 n/a(1)
IDEO ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.5 n/a(1)
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For each reporting unit, this excess is primarily driven by the residual value of future years. Thus,
increasing the discount rate from 11.5% to 12.5%, leaving all other assumptions unchanged, would
reduce the excess amounts above to the following amounts:

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $730.1 $787.7
Steelcase Design PartnershipÏÏÏÏ 180.4 202.3
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 66.4 95.6
PolyVisionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.9 n/a
IDEO ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.4 n/a

We also perform impairment analyses on our other intangible assets not subject to amortization
using an income approach based on the cash Öows attributable to the related products. These
intangible assets primarily consist of trademarks within the PolyVision reporting unit. As of the
valuation date, the fair value exceeded the book value by approximately $3.6. A 5% decrease in
projected revenue would result in a reduction of the excess fair value by $1.8. A 1% increase in the
discount rate would result in a reduction of the excess fair value by $2.5.

For our intangible assets subject to amortization and our other long-lived assets including
property, plant and equipment, an impairment analysis is performed at least annually. In accordance
with SFAS No. 144, an impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is
not recoverable and its carrying amount exceeds its fair value. In testing for impairment, we Ñrst
determined if the asset was recoverable. We then compared the undiscounted cash Öows over the
asset's remaining life to the carrying value.

See Note 2, Note 5 and Note 7 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements for more information
regarding goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement BeneÑts

The determination of the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement beneÑts is
dependent on the selection of certain actuarial assumptions used in calculating such amounts. These
assumptions include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets and rates of increase in compensation and health care costs. These assumptions are reviewed
and updated annually based on relevant external and internal factors and information, including but
not limited to, long-term expected fund returns, expenses paid from the fund, rates of termination,
medical inÖation, technology and quality care changes, regulatory requirements, plan changes and
governmental coverage changes. See Note 9 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements for more
information regarding employee beneÑt plan obligations including a sensitivity analysis.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable, investments in leases and notes
receivable is maintained at a level considered by management to be adequate to absorb an estimate
of probable future losses existing at the balance sheet date. In estimating probable losses, we review
accounts that are past due, non-performing, or in bankruptcy. We also review accounts that may have
higher credit risk using information available about the customer or dealer, such as Ñnancial
statements, news reports, and published credit ratings. We also use general information regarding
industry trends, the general economic environment and information gathered through our network of
Ñeld based employees. Using an estimate of current fair market value of the collateral and other credit
enhancements, such as third party guarantees, we arrive at an estimated loss for speciÑc accounts
and estimate an additional amount for the remainder of the trade balance based on historical trends.
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Our projection of credit losses is based on estimates, and as a result we cannot predict with certainty
the amount of such losses. Changes in economic conditions, the risk characteristics and composition
of the portfolio, bankruptcy laws or regulatory policies and other factors could impact our actual and
projected credit losses and the related allowance for possible credit losses. If we had made diÅerent
assumptions about probable credit losses, our Ñnancial position and results of operations could have
diÅered. Uncollectible receivable balances are written oÅ when we determine that the balance is
uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance when received. See further
discussion regarding concentrations of credit risk in Note 14 of the consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to temporary diÅerences between the Ñnancial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. These assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the
temporary diÅerences are expected to reverse.

The Company has operating loss carryforwards of $334.8 and tax credit carryforwards of $27.7
available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable income. Future tax beneÑts for these
carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization of these beneÑts is considered more likely
than not. We estimate a tax savings from the operating loss carryforwards before valuation allowance
of $125.6, but we have recorded a valuation allowance of $26.0 which reduces our estimated tax
savings to $99.6. Additionally, we have recorded a valuation allowance of $4.3 against our tax credit
carryforwards which reduces our estimated tax savings to $23.4. It is considered more likely than not
that a beneÑt of $123.0 will be realized on these carryforwards. This determination is based on the
expectation that related operations will be suÇciently proÑtable or various tax, business and other
planning strategies will enable us to utilize the carryforwards. To the extent that available evidence
raises doubt about the realization of a deferred income tax asset, a valuation allowance is established.
We cannot be assured that we will be able to realize these future tax beneÑts or that future valuation
allowances will not be required. A 10% decrease in the expected amount of beneÑt to be realized on
the carryforwards would result in a decrease in net income of approximately $12.3.

Forward-looking Statements

From time to time, in written reports and oral statements, the company discusses its expectations
regarding future events. These forward-looking statements generally will be accompanied by words
such as ""anticipate,'' ""believe,'' ""could,'' ""estimate,'' ""expect,'' ""forecast,'' ""intend,'' ""may,''
""possible,'' ""potential,'' ""predict,'' ""project,'' or other similar words, phrases or expressions. Forward-
looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to vary.
Important factors that could cause actual results to diÅer materially from the forward-looking
statements include, without limitation: (1) competitive and general economic conditions and
uncertainty domestically and internationally; (2) delayed or lost sales and other impacts related to
acts of terrorism, acts of war or governmental action; (3) changes in domestic or international laws,
rules and regulations, including the impact of changed environmental laws, rules or regulations;
(4) major disruptions at our key facilities or in the supply of any key raw materials, components or
Ñnished goods; (5) competitive pricing pressure; (6) pricing changes by the company, its
competitors or suppliers; (7) currency Öuctuations; (8) changes in: (a) customer demand and order
patterns; (b) Ñnancial stability of customers, dealers (including changes in their ability to pay for
product and services, dealer Ñnancing and other amounts owed to the company) or suppliers;
(c) relationships with customers, suppliers, employees and dealers; and (d) the mix of products sold
and of customers purchasing (including large project business); (9) the success (including product
performance and customer acceptance) of new products, current product innovations and platform
simpliÑcation, and their impact on the company's manufacturing processes; (10) the success of the
company's investment in certain ventures; (11) the company's ability to successfully: (a) implement
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list price increases; (b) reduce its costs, including actions such as global supply chain management,
workforce reduction, facility rationalization, disposition of excess assets (including real estate) at
more than book value and/or related impairments, production consolidation, reduction of business
complexity and culling products; (c) implement technology initiatives; (d) integrate acquired
businesses; (e) migrate to a less vertically integrated manufacturing model; (f) implement lean
manufacturing principles; (g) initiate and manage alliances; and (h) manage consolidated dealers;
(11) possible acquisitions or divestitures by the company; (12) changes in business strategies and
decisions; and (13) other risks detailed in this and other Ñlings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The factors identiÑed above are believed to be important factors (but not necessarily all
of the important factors) that could cause actual results to diÅer materially from those expressed in
any forward-looking statement. Unpredictable or unknown factors could also have material adverse
eÅects on the company. All forward-looking statements included in this report are expressly qualiÑed
in their entirety by the foregoing cautionary statements. Steelcase undertakes no obligation to update,
amend, or clarify forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or
otherwise.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

There have not been any new accounting standards that are expected to have a signiÑcant
impact on the Company in the near term.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk:

The principal market risks (i.e., the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and
prices) to which we are exposed include foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Operating in international markets involves exposure to the possibility of volatile movements in
foreign exchange rates. These exposures may impact future earnings and/or cash Öows. Revenue
from foreign locations (primarily Europe and Canada) represented approximately 25% and 26% of our
consolidated revenue in 2005 and 2004, respectively. We actively manage the foreign currency
exposures that are associated with committed foreign currency purchases and sales created in the
normal course of business at the local entity level. Exposures that cannot be naturally oÅset within a
local entity to an immaterial amount are hedged with foreign currency derivatives. We also have a
signiÑcant amount of foreign currency net asset exposures. In February 2005 and March 2005, we
entered into a series of forward contracts to hedge our net investment in Canada to reduce the risk of
exposure to changes in exchange rates. The notional amount of these contracts was 45 million
Canadian dollars in February 2005 and 25 million Canadian dollars in March 2005.

Changes in foreign exchange rates that had the largest impact on translating our international
operating proÑt for 2005 related to the euro and the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar. We
estimate that a 10% devaluation of the U.S. dollar against the local currencies would have increased
our operating income by approximately $1.1 in 2005 and increased our loss in 2004 by approximately
$2.0, assuming no changes other than the exchange rate itself. However, this quantitative measure
has inherent limitations. The sensitivity analysis disregards the possibility that rates can move in
opposite directions and that gains from one currency may or may not be oÅset by losses from another
currency.

The translation of the assets and liabilities of our International subsidiaries is made using the
foreign exchange rates as of the end of the year. Translation adjustments are not included in
determining net income but are disclosed and accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income within
shareholders' equity until sale or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the
International subsidiary takes place. In certain markets, the Company could recognize a signiÑcant
gain or loss related to unrealized cumulative translation adjustments if we were to exit the market and
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liquidate our net investment. As of February 25, 2005, the net foreign currency translation
adjustments reduced shareholders' equity by $26.4.

Foreign exchange gains and losses reÖect transaction gains and losses. Transaction gains and
losses arise from monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than a business
unit's functional currency. For 2005, transaction gains and losses were immaterial.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily on our notes receivable, investments in company
owned life insurance, short-term borrowings and long-term debt. Substantially all of our interest rates
on our term borrowings were Ñxed during 2004; thus our interest rate risk was minimized. A portion of
our company owned life insurance is invested in Ñxed income securities. The valuation of these
securities is sensitive to changes in market interest rates. We estimate that a 1% change in interest
rates would not have had a material impact on our results of operations for 2005 or 2004.

See Notes 2 and 14 of the consolidated Ñnancial statements for further discussion of interest rate
swaps and derivative instruments. See Note 6 in the consolidated Ñnancial statements for further
discussion of our investments in company owned life insurance.

Equity Price Risk

We are exposed to equity price risk from the markets in the United States primarily on our
investments in company owned life insurance. We estimate that a 10% adverse change in the broader
United States equity markets would have reduced our operating income by approximately $4.0 in
2005 and increased our operating loss by approximately $2.0 in 2004. This quantitative measure has
inherent limitations since not all of our equity investments are in similar asset classes. In addition, the
investment managers actively manage certain equity investments and their results could be better or
worse than the broader United States equity markets returns.

See Note 6 in the consolidated Ñnancial statements for further discussion of our investments in
company owned life insurance.

28



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining eÅective internal control over Ñnancial
reporting of the Company. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of Ñnancial reporting and the preparation of Ñnancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reÖect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of Ñnancial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets
that could have a material eÅect on the Ñnancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over Ñnancial reporting can provide
only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of
changes in conditions, eÅectiveness of internal control over Ñnancial reporting may vary over time.

Management assessed the eÅectiveness of the system of internal control over Ñnancial reporting
based on the framework in Internal ControlÌIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
determined that the Company's system of internal control over Ñnancial reporting was eÅective as of
February 25, 2005.

BDO Seidman, LLP, the independent registered certiÑed public accounting Ñrm that audited our
Ñnancial statements included in this Form 10-K, has also audited our management's assessment of
the eÅectiveness of the Company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting, as stated in their report
which is included herein.

29



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

STEELCASE INC.
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Steelcase Inc. maintained eÅective internal
control over Ñnancial reporting as of February 25, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal
ControlÌIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Steelcase Inc.'s management is responsible for
maintaining eÅective internal control over Ñnancial reporting and for its assessment of the
eÅectiveness of internal control over Ñnancial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management's assessment and an opinion on the eÅectiveness of the Company's internal control over
Ñnancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether eÅective internal control over Ñnancial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over Ñnancial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating eÅectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of Ñnancial reporting and the preparation of Ñnancial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
control over Ñnancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reÖect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of Ñnancial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material eÅect on the Ñnancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over Ñnancial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of eÅectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Steelcase Inc. maintained eÅective internal control
over Ñnancial reporting as of February 25, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
COSO criteria. Also in our opinion, Steelcase Inc. maintained, in all material respects, eÅective internal
control over Ñnancial reporting as of February 25, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steelcase Inc. as
of February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in shareholders' equity and cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended
February 25, 2005 and our report dated March 31, 2005 expressed an unqualiÑed opinion.

BDO SEIDMAN, LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
March 31, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

STEELCASE INC.
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steelcase Inc. as of
February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004 and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in shareholders' equity, and cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended
February 25, 2005. Our audits also included the Ñnancial statement schedule for the three years in
the period ended February 25, 2005 as listed in Item 15(a). These Ñnancial statements and schedule
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these Ñnancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Ñnancial statements and schedule are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the Ñnancial statements and schedule. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the Ñnancial statements and schedule. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated Ñnancial statements, the Ñscal 2004 and 2003
consolidated Ñnancial statements have been restated for the impact of certain lease accounting issues
and the reclassiÑcation of auction rate securities.

In our opinion, the consolidated Ñnancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the Ñnancial position of Steelcase Inc. at February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004 and the
results of their operations and their cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended
February 25, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, the Ñnancial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, in the year ended February 28, 2003. As discussed in
Note 2, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, in the year ended February 27, 2004.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the eÅectiveness of Steelcase Inc.'s internal control over Ñnancial
reporting as of February 25, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal ControlÌIntegrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) and our report dated March 31, 2005 expressed an unqualiÑed opinion thereon.

BDO SEIDMAN, LLP

Grand Rapids, Michigan
March 31, 2005
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share data)

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,613.8 $2,345.6 $2,529.9
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,859.9 1,688.0 1,785.3
Restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.2 42.3 16.5

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 745.7 615.3 728.1
Operating expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 722.3 678.5 745.6
Restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.2 11.2 44.7

Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18.2 (74.4) (62.2)
Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (20.9) (18.5) (20.9)
Other income (expense), net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.7 Ì 16.4

Income (loss) from continuing operations before
income tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.0 (92.9) (66.7)

Income tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.7) (50.9) (25.1)

Income (loss) from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.7 (42.0) (41.6)
Income from discontinued operations, net of income

taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 2.4 4.7
Gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operations,

net of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 20.0 Ì

Income (loss) before cumulative eÅect of
accounting change, net of income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.7 (19.6) (36.9)

Cumulative eÅect of accounting change, net of income
taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (4.2) (229.9)

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12.7 $ (23.8) $ (266.8)

Basic and diluted per share data:
Income (loss) from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.08 $ (0.28) $ (0.28)
Income and gain on sale of discontinued operationsÏÏ 0.01 0.15 0.03
Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.03) (1.56)

Earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.09 $ (0.16) $ (1.81)

Dividends declared per common share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.24 $ 0.24 $ 0.24

See accompanying notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except share data)

February 27,
February 25, 2004

2005 (As Restated)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 216.6 $ 182.2
Short-term investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 131.6 80.4
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $41.6 and $44.4 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 378.1 363.2
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 132.9 114.4
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 90.2 101.7
Other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 107.9 103.8

Total current assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,057.3 945.7

Property and equipment, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 606.0 713.8
Company owned life insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 186.1 177.9
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 148.0 117.7
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 210.2 210.2
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $40.1 and

$36.0 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79.8 88.1
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 77.2 106.0

Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,364.6 $2,359.4

See accompanying notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.

33



STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETSÌ(Continued)
(in millions, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 175.9 $ 162.8
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 67.6 34.4
Accrued expenses:

Employee compensationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 123.3 91.3
Employee beneÑt plan obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31.7 33.9
Workers' compensation claims ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.1 27.4
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22.5 34.3
Product warrantiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20.9 20.9
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 138.5 139.7

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 609.5 544.7

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt less current maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 258.1 319.6
Employee beneÑt plan obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 249.7 243.7
Other long-term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50.7 46.6

Total long-term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 558.5 609.9

Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,168.0 1,154.6

Shareholders' equity:
Preferred Stock-no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized, none

issued and outstandingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì
Class A Common Stock-no par value; 475,000,000 shares

authorized, 61,084,925 and 49,544,049 issued and outstandingÏÏ 162.5 123.2
Class B Convertible Common Stock-no par value; 475,000,000

shares authorized, 87,490,230 and 98,435,538 issued and
outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 134.9 166.6

Additional paid in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.3 0.2
Accumulated other comprehensive lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (33.1) (40.8)
Deferred compensationÌrestricted stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.1) (1.4)
Retained earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 934.1 957.0

Total shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,196.6 1,204.8

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,364.6 $2,359.4

See accompanying notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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Foreign Minimum Total
Additional Currency Pension Derivative Deferred Total Comprehensive

Paid in Translation Liability, Adjustments, Retained CompensationÌ Shareholders' Income
Class A Class B Capital Adjustments net of tax net of tax Earnings Restricted Stock Equity (Loss)

STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in millions)

February 22, 2002 (as
previously reported) $ 75.1 $207.2 $ Ì $(39.6) $ 0.2 $(8.0) $1,320.6 $ Ì $1,555.5

Prior period adjustment
(see Note 3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.1) (2.1)

February 22, 2002 (as
restatedÌsee
Note 3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 75.1 207.2 Ì (39.6) 0.2 (8.0) 1,318.5 Ì 1,553.4

Common stock
conversion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.7 (14.7) Ì

Common stock issuance 3.8 3.8

Other comprehensive
income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.7) (4.2) 4.7 (0.2) $ (0.2)

Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35.4) (35.4)

Net loss (as restated) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (266.8) Ì (266.8) (266.8)

February 28, 2003 (as
restated) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 93.6 192.5 (40.3) (4.0) (3.3) 1,016.3 Ì 1,254.8 $(267.0)

Common stock
conversion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25.9 (25.9) Ì

Common stock issuance 1.6 1.6

Issuance of restricted
stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.1 (2.1) Ì

Amortization of deferred
compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.7 0.7

Issuance of performance
shares and restricted
stock units ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 0.2

Other comprehensive
income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.6 (0.4) 0.6 6.8 $ 6.8

Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35.5) (35.5)

Net loss (as restated) Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì (23.8) Ì (23.8) (23.8)

February 27, 2004 (as
restated) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 123.2 166.6 0.2 (33.7) (4.4) (2.7) 957.0 (1.4) 1,204.8 $ (17.0)

Common stock
conversion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31.7 (31.7) Ì

Common stock issuance 4.1 4.1

Issuance of restricted
stock, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.5 (3.5) Ì

Amortization of deferred
compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.8 1.8

Performance shares and
restricted stock units
expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.1 1.1

Other comprehensive
income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.3 (1.2) 1.6 7.7 $ 7.7

Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35.6) (35.6)

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì Ì 12.7 Ì 12.7 12.7

February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏ $162.5 $134.9 $ 1.3 $(26.4) $(5.6) $(1.1) $ 934.1 $(3.1) $1,196.6 $ 20.4

See accompanying notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12.7 $ (23.8) $(266.8)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 127.6 141.4 157.4
Loss on disposal and write-down of Ñxed assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.8 16.4 4.3
Gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operations ÏÏÏ Ì (31.9) Ì
Loss on dealer transitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.2) 8.7 8.3
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.7) (34.2) (42.5)
Cumulative eÅect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 4.2 229.9
Pension and post-retirement beneÑt costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.1 17.3 9.2
Restructuring charges (payments) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7.6) 3.7 (3.3)
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.7) (0.2) (3.7)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of

corporate acquisitions:
Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.7) 42.4 35.3
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15.8) 19.4 24.8
Other assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (21.1) (34.0) (14.6)
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.9 (1.9) (32.3)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.4 (39.6) (57.3)

Net cash provided by operating activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 114.7 87.9 48.7

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expendituresÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (49.2) (43.0) (76.5)
Short-term investmentsÌacquisitionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (459.2) (346.0) (17.7)
Short-term investmentsÌliquidations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 407.8 266.0 26.2
Proceeds from repayments of lease fundings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32.3 44.4 109.8
Proceeds from sales of leased assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.7 48.8 302.0
Increase in lease fundingsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (21.2) (117.8)
Proceeds from disposal of Ñxed assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.8 28.8 55.6
Net decrease (increase) in notes receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.1 (6.2) 26.0
Proceeds on sale of net assets of discontinued operations ÏÏÏ Ì 47.9 Ì
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 (0.2) 10.7

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (25.7) 19.3 318.3

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35.6) (35.5) (35.4)
Repayments of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14.4) (23.4) (138.9)
Short-term borrowings (repayments), net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14.4) 0.5 (131.2)
Common stock issuance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.1 1.6 3.8

Net cash used in Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (60.3) (56.8) (301.7)

EÅect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.7 2.9 2.7

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34.4 53.3 68.0
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 182.2 128.9 60.9

Cash and cash equivalents, end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $216.6 $ 182.2 $ 128.9

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Income taxes paidÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 16.2 $ 14.6 $ 10.5

Interest paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 21.6 $ 20.8 $ 26.2

See accompanying notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Steelcase Inc. is the world's leading designer and manufacturer of oÇce furniture. Founded in
1912, we are headquartered in Grand Rapids, Michigan, with approximately 14,500 workers and we
operate manufacturing facilities in over 30 principal locations. We distribute products through various
channels including independent and owned dealers in more than 800 locations throughout the world
and have led the global oÇce furniture industry in revenue every year since 1974. We operate under
three reportable segments: North America, Steelcase Design Partnership (""SDP'') and International,
plus an ""Other'' category. Additional information about our reportable segments is contained in
Note 15.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated Ñnancial statements include the accounts of Steelcase Inc. and its majority-
owned subsidiaries, except as noted below in Majority-owned Dealer Transitions. Our consolidation
policy requires the consolidation of entities where a controlling Ñnancial interest is obtained as well as
consolidation of variable interest entities in which we are designated as the primary beneÑciary in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (""FASB'') Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities (""FIN 46(R)''), as amended. We adopted FIN 46(R) in 2004 and
recorded a $4.2 net of tax charge in cumulative eÅect of accounting change upon adoption. All
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Fiscal Year

Our Ñscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the last Friday in February.

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ February 25 52
2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ February 27 52
2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ February 28 53 (1)

(1) Quarters 1 through 3 contained 13 weeks while quarter 4 contained 14 weeks.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, reference to a year relates to a Ñscal year rather than a
calendar year. Additionally, Q1 2005 references the Ñrst quarter of Ñscal 2005. All amounts are in
millions, except per share data, data presented as a percentage or unless otherwise indicated.

ReclassiÑcations

Certain immaterial amounts in the prior years' Ñnancial statements have been reclassiÑed to
conform to the current year presentation. As described in Note 3, we reclassiÑed auction rate
securities from cash equivalents to short-term investments.

Majority-owned Dealer Transitions

From time to time, we obtain equity interests in dealers that we intend to resell as soon as
practicable (""dealer transitions''). We use the equity method of accounting for majority-owned
dealers with a transition plan in place and where the nature of the relationship is one in which we do
not exercise participative control. Our investments in these unconsolidated dealers are included in
Other Assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. These investments are carried at the
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STEELCASE INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSÌ(Continued)

lower of cost or estimated market value. We do not adjust our carrying value for proÑts and losses for
certain of these dealers because the investments are structured such that we do not share in proÑts
and losses. Where we share in proÑts and losses, we recognize our appropriate share of earnings and
losses in Other Income (Expense), Net.

In February 2004, we initiated a change in our participative control of eight dealers where we hold
a majority position in the voting stock of the dealer. Accordingly, we consolidated the balance sheets
of these dealers as of February 27, 2004. The consolidation of these dealers had the eÅect of
increasing our total assets and liabilities by $10.9. In 2005, revenue, cost of sales, and operating
expenses increased $80.1, $53.3, and $29.0, respectively, due to the consolidation of the dealers.
There was no eÅect on net income for those dealers previously accounted for using the equity method
of accounting since we have historically recognized our share of income through Joint venture income.
For those dealers where we do not share in the earnings and losses, the consolidation of the dealers
had no impact on net income since the pretax earnings or losses were eliminated in Other Income
(Expense), net.

Foreign Currency Translation

For most international operations, local currencies are considered their functional currencies. We
translate assets and liabilities to United States dollar equivalents at exchange rates in eÅect as of the
balance sheet date. We translate Consolidated Statements of Income accounts at average rates for
the period. Translation adjustments are not included in determining net income but are disclosed and
accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income within the Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders' Equity until sale or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the
International subsidiary takes place. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in
Other Income (Expense), Net and are not material for 2005.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists substantially of product sales and related service revenues. We also have
Ñnance revenue associated with our Financial Services subsidiary.

Product sales are reported net of discounts and applicable returns and allowances and are
recognized when title and risks associated with ownership have passed to the customer or dealer.
Typically, this is when the product ships. Service and Ñnance revenue are not material.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include demand bank deposits and highly liquid investment securities, with an
original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase. Cash equivalents are reported at
cost, which approximates fair value, and were $210.2 as of February 25, 2005 and $176.5 as of
February 27, 2004.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments represent auction rate securities which are highly liquid, variable-rate debt
securities. While the underlying securities have maturities in excess of one year, the interest rate is
reset through auctions that are typically held every 7 to 28 days, creating short-term investments. The
securities trade at par on the auction dates. Interest is paid at the end of each auction period.
Because of the short interest rate reset period, the book value of the securities approximates fair
value. Auction rate securities were previously recorded in cash and cash equivalents due to their
liquidity and pricing reset features. In the current year, we determined that these securities should be
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSÌ(Continued)

classiÑed as short-term investments. We reclassiÑed our balance at February 27, 2004 of $80.0 of
auction rate securities to short-term investments. As a result of this reclassiÑcation, our cash Öows
from investing activities now reÖect acquisitions and liquidations of auction rate securities.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

The Company has accounts receivable for products sold to various unconsolidated aÇliates on
terms generally similar to those prevailing with unrelated third parties. AÇliates include unconsolidated
dealers and minority interests in unconsolidated joint ventures. Accounts receivable from aÇliates
were not material at February 25, 2005 or February 27, 2004.

Notes receivable includes project Ñnancing, asset-based lending and term Ñnancing with dealers.
Notes receivable of $57.3 and $70.2 as of February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004 are included
within Other current assets and Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The allowance for
uncollectible notes receivable was $6.2 and $17.9 at February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004,
respectively. Notes receivable from aÇliates were not material at February 25, 2005 or February 27,
2004.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable, notes receivable and our
investments in leases is maintained at a level considered by management to be adequate to absorb
an estimate of probable future losses existing at the balance sheet date. In estimating probable
losses, we review accounts that are past due or in bankruptcy. We also review accounts that may
have higher credit risk using information available about the customer or dealer, such as Ñnancial
statements, news reports and published credit ratings. We also use general information regarding
industry trends, the general economic environment and information gathered through our network of
Ñeld based employees. Using an estimate of current fair market value of the collateral and other credit
enhancements, such as third party guarantees, we arrive at an estimated loss for speciÑc accounts
and estimate an additional amount for the remainder of the trade balance based on historical trends.
This process is based on estimates, and ultimate losses may diÅer from those estimates. Receivable
balances are written oÅ when we determine that the balance is uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries,
if any, are credited to the allowance when received. We consider an accounts receivable balance past
due when payment has not been received within the stated terms. We consider a note receivable past
due when any installment of the note is unpaid for more than 30 days. There were no accounts past
due over 90 days and still accruing interest as of February 25, 2005.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The North America segment primarily uses
the last in, Ñrst out method to value its inventories. The SDP segment primarily uses the Ñrst in, Ñrst
out or the average cost inventory valuation methods. The International segment values inventories
primarily using the Ñrst in, Ñrst out method.

Property, Equipment and Other Long-lived Assets

Property and equipment, including some internally-developed internal use software, is stated at
cost. Major improvements that materially extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is
provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets.
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We review the carrying value of our long-lived assets held and used and assets to be disposed of
using estimates of future undiscounted cash Öows. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is
considered impaired, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying value of
the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.

Due to the restructuring and plant consolidation activities over the past several years, we are
currently holding for sale several facilities that are no longer in use. These assets are stated at the
lower of cost or net realizable value and are included within Other Current Assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets since we expect them to be sold within one year. See Note 5 for further information.

Operating Leases

Rent expense for operating leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless
the lease contains an escalation clause which is not Ñxed and determinable. The lease term begins
when we have the right to control the use of the leased property, which is typically before rent
payments are due under the terms of the lease. If a lease has a Ñxed and determinable escalation
clause, the diÅerence between rent expense and rent paid is recorded as deferred rent and is
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rent expense for operating leases that do not have an
escalation clause or where escalation is based on an inÖation index is expensed over the lease term
as it is payable.

Long-Term Investments

Long-term investments primarily include privately-held equity securities. These investments are
carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value. For these non-quoted investments, we review the
assumptions underlying the performance of the privately-held companies to determine if declines in
fair value below cost basis are other-than-temporary. A series of historic and projected operating
losses by investees are considered in the review. If a determination is made that a decline in fair value
below the cost basis is other-than-temporary, the investment is written down to its estimated fair
value. Gains on these investments are recorded when they are realized. At February 25, 2005 and
February 27, 2004, the carrying value of these investments was $5.8 and $6.5, respectively, and was
included within Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Investment in Leases

Our Financial Services subsidiary provides furniture leasing services to end-use customers and
showroom Ñnancing to dealers. Prior to 2004, we originated both direct Ñnancing and operating leases
and the remaining lease balance was recorded on our balance sheet. In 2004, we implemented a new
strategy in which we originate leases for customers and earn an origination fee for that service. We
use a third party to provide lease funding. Our net investment in leases was $34.6 and $71.0 at
February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004 respectively, and was included within Other current assets
and Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. This investment has decreased over the past
few years due to the new strategy as the underlying lease schedules have run-oÅ and certain leases
have been sold.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the diÅerence between the purchase price and the related underlying
tangible net asset values resulting from business acquisitions. Annually, or more frequently if
conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, the carrying value of the goodwill of a reporting unit
is compared to an estimate of its fair value. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value,
goodwill is impaired, and is written down to its estimated fair value.
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Other intangible assets subject to amortization consist primarily of proprietary technology,
trademarks and non-compete agreements and are amortized over their estimated useful economic
lives using the straight-line method. Other intangible assets not subject to amortization are accounted
for and evaluated for potential impairment in a manner consistent with goodwill.

The cumulative eÅect of accounting change in 2003 of $229.9 represents the net after-tax charge
related to our adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets. See Note 7 for additional discussion of goodwill and other intangible
assets.

Self-Insurance

We are self-insured for certain losses relating to workers' compensation claims, product liability
costs and the majority of domestic employee and retiree medical beneÑts. We have purchased
insurance coverage to reduce our exposure to signiÑcant levels of workers' compensation and product
liability claims. Self-insured losses are accrued based upon estimates of the aggregate liability for
uninsured claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet date using certain actuarial
assumptions followed in the insurance industry and our historical experience.

Other accrued expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets include a reserve for
estimated future product liability costs of $8.7 and $9.9 incurred as of February 25, 2005 and
February 27, 2004.

On February 28, 2005, we terminated our Voluntary Employees' BeneÑciary Association
(""VEBA'') used to fund self-insured employee medical claims. We will begin paying those claims
directly from the general assets of the Company in 2006. At February 25, 2005 and February 27,
2004, the estimate for incurred but not reported medical claims, which were fully funded in the VEBA,
was $3.5 and $5.7, respectively.

Product Warranty

We oÅer a lifetime warranty on most Steelcase and Turnstone brand products delivered in the
United States and Canada, subject to certain exceptions. For products delivered in the rest of the
world, we oÅer a 15-year warranty for most Steelcase brand products and a 10-year warranty for most
Turnstone brand products, subject to certain exceptions. These warranties provide for the free repair
or replacement of any covered product, part or component that fails during normal use because of a
defect in materials or workmanship. For all other brands, warranties range from one year to lifetime.
The accrued liability for warranty costs is based on an estimated amount needed to cover future
warranty obligations incurred as of the balance sheet date determined by historical product data and
management's knowledge of current events and actions.

Balance at beginning of periodÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 20.9 $26.0
Accruals for warranty charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.9 8.5
Settlements and adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.9) (13.6)

Balance at end of period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 20.9 $20.9
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Environmental Matters

Environmental expenditures related to current operations are expensed or capitalized as
appropriate. Expenditures related to an existing condition allegedly caused by past operations, that
are not associated with current or future revenue generation, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded
when material environmental assessments and remedial eÅorts are probable and the costs can be
reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with completion of a feasibility
study or our commitment to a formal plan of action. The accrued liability for environmental
contingencies included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets
was $4.3 as of February 25, 2005 and $5.8 as of February 27, 2004. Based on our ongoing
evaluation of these matters, we believe we have accrued suÇcient reserves to absorb the costs of all
known environmental assessments and the remediation costs of all known sites.

Product Related Expenses

Research and development expenses, which are expensed as incurred, were $41.1 for 2005,
$46.9 for 2004, and $49.2 for 2003.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to temporary diÅerences between the Ñnancial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. These assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the
temporary diÅerences are expected to reverse.

The Company has net operating loss carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce
future taxable income. Future tax beneÑts for net operating loss carryforwards are recognized to the
extent that realization of these beneÑts is considered more likely than not. This determination is based
on the expectation that related operations will be suÇciently proÑtable or various tax, business and
other planning strategies will enable us to utilize the operating loss carryforwards. We cannot be
assured that we will be able to realize these future tax beneÑts or that future valuation allowances will
not be required. To the extent that available evidence raises doubt about the realization of a deferred
income tax asset, a valuation allowance is established.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during each period. It excludes the dilutive eÅects of additional common shares that
would have been outstanding if the shares under our stock incentive plans had been issued and the
dilutive eÅect of restricted shares to the extent those shares have not vested (see Note 11).

Diluted earnings per share includes the eÅects of shares and potential shares issued under our
stock incentive plans. However, diluted earnings per share does not reÖect the eÅects of 4.5 million
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options for 2005, 5.2 million options for 2004 and 10.9 million options for 2003 because those shares
or potential shares were not dilutive.

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 147.9 147.9 147.6
Diluted (1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 148.2 148.0 147.7

(1) The denominator for basic EPS is used for calculating EPS for 2004 and 2003 because
potentially dilutive shares and diluted EPS are not applicable when a loss from continuing
operations is reported.

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation consists of performance shares, performance units, restricted
stock, restricted stock units and non-qualiÑed stock options. In December 2004, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 123(R) to expand and clarify SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, in
several areas. The Statement requires companies to measure the cost of employee services received
in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based on the grant-date fair value of the award and
is eÅective for awards issued beginning in Q1 2007. EÅective at the beginning of 2004, our policy is
to expense stock-based compensation under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion, using the fair value based method of accounting for all awards granted, modiÑed or settled on or
after March 1, 2003. The aggregate market value of restricted stock shares at the date of issuance is
recorded as deferred compensation, a separate component of shareholders' equity, and is amortized
over the three-year vesting period of the grants. Restricted stock units, performance shares, and
performance share units are credited to equity as they are expensed over their vesting periods based
on the current market value of the shares to be granted. For stock options, fair value is measured on
the grant date of the related equity instrument using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is
recognized as compensation expense over the applicable vesting period. However, there have been
no stock options granted in 2005 or 2004. Upon adoption, SFAS No. 123(R) will have no impact on
our Ñnancial statements because we currently expense any new stock-based compensation in
accordance with this Statement.

Prior to 2004, our stock-based compensation consisted only of stock options and we accounted
for them under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (""APB'')
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. Given the
terms of the Company's plans, no stock-based employee compensation cost was recognized, as all
options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant.
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The following table illustrates the eÅect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if we
had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to all outstanding awards. Further
disclosure of our stock incentive plans is presented in Note 11.

Net income (loss), as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $12.7 $(23.8) $(266.8)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense

included in reported net income, net of related tax
eÅects ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.0 0.6 Ì

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based methods
for all awards, net of related tax eÅects ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.4) (6.1) (11.2)

Pro forma net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9.3 $(29.3) $(278.0)

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and dilutedÌas reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.09 $(0.16) $ (1.81)

Basic and dilutedÌpro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.06 $(0.20) $ (1.88)

Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our Ñnancial instruments, consisting of cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts and notes receivable, accounts and notes payable, short-term borrowings and
certain other liabilities, approximate their fair value due to their relatively short maturities. The carrying
amount of our long-term debt approximates fair value since the stated rate of interest approximates a
market rate of interest.

We recognize the fair value of all derivative instruments on our balance sheet in Other Long-term
Liabilities at fair value and establish criteria for designation and eÅectiveness of hedging relationships.
A cash Öow hedge requires that the eÅective portion of the change in the fair value of a derivative
instrument be recognized in Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax, and reclassiÑed into earnings in
the period or periods during which the hedged transaction aÅects earnings. Any ineÅective portion of
a derivative instrument's change in fair value is immediately recognized in earnings. A fair value hedge
requires that the eÅective portion of the change in the fair value of a derivative instrument be oÅset
against the change in the fair value of the underlying asset, liability, or Ñrm commitment being hedged
through earnings. A net investment hedge requires that the eÅective portion of the change in fair
value of a derivative instrument be recognized in Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax, and
reclassiÑed into earnings in the period in which the net investment is liquidated.

We use derivative Ñnancial instruments principally to manage three types of risk:

1. The risk that interest rate changes will aÅect either:

‚ the fair value of our debt obligations, or

‚ the amount of our future interest payments.

2. The risk that unremitted or future cash Öows owed to (by) us for the sale (purchase) or
anticipated sale (purchase) of products abroad and other cash inÖows (outÖows) may
be adversely aÅected by changes in the foreign currency rates.
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3. The risk that our net investment in a foreign entity may be adversely aÅected by changes
in exchange rates.

We formally document the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This
process includes linking all derivative instruments that are designated as fair value or cash Öow
hedges to speciÑc assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to speciÑc forecasted transactions.
We also formally assess, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivative instruments used are highly eÅective in oÅsetting changes in fair values or cash Öows of
hedged items. If it is determined the derivative instrument is not highly eÅective as a hedge, hedge
accounting is discontinued. We use the change in variable cash Öows method for testing the
eÅectiveness of our cash Öow hedges. This method compares the present value of the cash Öow
stream using the interest rate obtained at the inception of the agreements to the present value of the
cash Öow stream at current market interest rates. For our net investment hedge, we determine that
the hedge is eÅective if the net investment balance exceeds the notional amount of the forward
contracts. As of February 25, 2005, our testing proved that our hedges remained eÅective. See
Note 14 for further information on derivatives.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of Ñnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that aÅect the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated Ñnancial statements and accompanying
notes. Although these estimates are based on historical data and management's knowledge of current
events and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may diÅer from these estimates under
diÅerent assumptions or conditions.

3. RESTATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company has completed a review of its lease accounting policies and is correcting its
method of accounting for certain leases by restating its Ñnancial statements for 2004 and 2003. The
restatement increased net loss by $0.6 and $0.7 in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and reduced
retained earnings by $2.1 at February 22, 2002 from $1,320.6 to $1,318.5. The eÅect of the
restatement is included in the Other category and is not spread to the segments because the
Company considers the restatement adjustments to be immaterial.

The Company initiated its review of its lease accounting in response to a public letter published
by the Chief Accountant of the SEC on February 7, 2005. The correction involves recording expense
for leases with Ñxed escalating rents on a straight-line basis over the lease term, rather than as
payable.

In addition, the Company's investments in auction rate securities of $80.0 have been reclassiÑed
in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet as short-term investments for 2004. Previously, these
investments were classiÑed as cash and cash equivalents. This reclassiÑcation also resulted in
changes to the Company's 2004 and 2003 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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The restated amounts and line items impacted by these restatements are provided below:

Cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $262.2 $182.2
Short-term investments (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 80.4
Non-current deferred income taxes (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 112.4 115.0
Other long-term liabilities (1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41.2 46.6
Retained earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 960.4 957.0

Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $677.6 $678.5 $ 744.5 $ 745.6
Operating loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (73.5) (74.4) (61.1) (62.2)
Loss from continuing operations before income tax

beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (92.0) (92.9) (65.6) (66.7)
Income tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (50.6) (50.9) (24.7) (25.1)
Loss from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (41.4) (42.0) (40.9) (41.6)
Loss before cumulative eÅect of accounting

changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (19.0) (19.6) (36.2) (36.9)
Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (23.2) (23.8) (266.1) (266.8)

Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(23.2) $ (23.8) $(266.1) $(266.8)
Deferred income taxes (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (30.5) (34.0) (39.6) (40.0)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (1)ÏÏÏ (43.9) (39.8) (60.9) (59.8)
Short-term investmentsÌacquisitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (346.0) Ì (17.7)
Short-term investmentsÌliquidations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 266.0 Ì 26.2

(1) Includes immaterial reclassiÑcations, as discussed in Note 2, which are unrelated to the lease and
auction rate security restatements for the prior year to conform to the current year presentation

4. INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The North America segment primarily uses
the last in, Ñrst out (""LIFO'') method to value its inventories. The SDP segment primarily uses the
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Ñrst in, Ñrst out (""FIFO'') or the average cost inventory valuation methods. The International segment
values inventories using the FIFO method.

Finished goods ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 67.3 $ 58.3
Work in process ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 29.7 29.7
Raw materials ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64.9 51.7

161.9 139.7
LIFO reserve ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (29.0) (25.3)

$132.9 $114.4

The portion of inventories determined by the LIFO method aggregated $52.6 and $46.3 as of
February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004, respectively. The eÅect of LIFO liquidations on net income
was not material in 2005 or 2004.

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

LandÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì $ 46.7 $ 62.0
Buildings and improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10 Ó 50 725.5 736.1
Machinery and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 Ó 15 1,119.6 1,151.9
Furniture and Ñxtures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5 Ó 8 91.1 90.5
Leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 Ó 10 67.2 68.1
Capitalized software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3 Ó 10 128.9 126.7
Construction in progress ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 19.4 17.3

2,198.4 2,252.6
Accumulated depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,592.4) (1,538.8)

$ 606.0 $ 713.8

The net book value of capitalized software was $28.5 and $41.8 as of February 25, 2005 and
February 27, 2004, respectively. The majority of capitalized software has an estimated useful life of 3
to 5 years. Approximately 25% of the gross value of capitalized software relates to the Company's
core enterprise resource planning system, which has an estimated useful life of 10 years.

Depreciation expense on property and equipment approximated $119.1 for 2005, $131.4 for 2004
and $145.1 for 2003.

The estimated cost to complete construction in progress as of February 25, 2005 was $26.1.

Included in Other Current Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets is property, plant and
equipment reclassiÑed as real estate held for sale, which totaled $31.0 as of February 25, 2005 and
$6.2 as of February 27, 2004. Of the $31.0 in property, plant and equipment that is held for sale at
February 25, 2005, $22.0 represents our real estate in Strasbourg, France. A portion of this real
estate is under contract to be sold for approximately $9.0 during 2006. The remaining real estate will
continue to be marketed. Real estate that is held for sale is stated at the lower of depreciated cost or
fair market value.
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6. COMPANY OWNED LIFE INSURANCE

Investments in company owned life insurance policies were made with the intention of utilizing
them as a long-term funding source for post-retirement medical beneÑts, deferred compensation and
supplemental retirement plan obligations aggregating $242.5 as of February 25, 2005 (see Note 9).
However, the assets do not represent a committed funding source. They are subject to claims from
creditors and the Company can designate them to another purpose at any time. The policies are
recorded at their net cash surrender values, as reported by the four issuing insurance companies,
whose Standard & Poor's credit ratings range from A to AAA, and totaled $186.1 as of February 25,
2005 and $177.9 as of February 27, 2004.

Investments in company owned life insurance consist of $91.0 in traditional whole life policies and
$95.1 in variable life insurance policies as of February 25, 2005. In the traditional whole life policies,
the investments return a set dividend rate that is periodically adjusted by the insurance companies
based on the performance of their long-term investment portfolio. While the amount of the dividend
can vary subject to a minimum dividend rate, the cash surrender value of these policies is not subject
to market risk declines in that the insurance companies guarantee a minimum dividend rate on these
investments. In the variable life policies, we are able to allocate the investments across a set of
choices provided by the insurance companies. As of February 25, 2005, the investments in the
variable life policies were allocated 49% in Ñxed income securities and 51% in equity securities. The
valuation of these investments is sensitive to changes in market interest rates and equity values. The
annual net changes in market valuation, normal insurance expenses and any death beneÑt gains are
reÖected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The net eÅect of these changes in
2005 and 2004 resulted in pre-tax income of approximately $9.0 and $15.0, respectively, recorded as
60% cost of sales and 40% operating expenses.

7. GOODWILL & OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill is assigned to and the fair value is tested at the reporting unit level. Goodwill impairment
exists if the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. We evaluated goodwill
using Ñve reporting unitsÌNorth America, SDP, International, PolyVision and IDEO. PolyVision and
IDEO are included in the ""Other'' category for reportable segment disclosure purposes.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2003, we recorded a non-cash charge of $229.9 related to
the impairment of goodwill in our International reporting unit. This charge is reÖected as a cumulative
eÅect of an accounting change in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. In
calculating the impairment charge, the fair value of the International reporting unit was determined by
using a combined discounted cash Öow and market value approach. The decline in the fair value of
our International reporting unit was primarily attributable to the decline in revenue and proÑtability of
the unit, which is primarily the result of the industry-wide decline in oÇce furniture revenue. This
decline led to a signiÑcant reduction in our three to Ñve year projection of operating income for the
International unit.

We evaluated goodwill during Q4 2005 and no impairment was necessary for any reporting unit.
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There were no changes to goodwill during 2005. A summary of goodwill at February 25, 2005, by
business segment, is as follows:

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 45.1
Steelcase Design PartnershipÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63.2
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 42.5
OtherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 59.4

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $210.2

As of February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004, our other intangible assets and related
accumulated amortization consisted of the following:

Intangible assets
subject to
amortization:
Proprietary

technology ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.2 $ 48.7 $14.1 $34.6 $ 48.7 $ 9.3 $39.4
TrademarksÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.4 30.2 21.5 8.7 32.5 21.5 11.0
Non-compete

agreementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 Ì Ì Ì 1.9 1.6 0.3
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.2 8.8 4.5 4.3 8.8 3.6 5.2

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 87.7 40.1 47.6 91.9 36.0 55.9

Intangible assets not
subject to
amortization:
TrademarksÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ n/a 32.2 Ì 32.2 32.2 Ì 32.2

Total Intangible
Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $119.9 $40.1 $79.8 $124.1 $36.0 $88.1

For 2005, we recorded amortization expense of $8.5 on intangible assets subject to amortization
compared to $10.0 for 2004 and $12.3 for 2003. Based on the current amount of intangible assets
subject to amortization, the estimated amortization expense for each of the following Ñve years is as
follows:

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.0
2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.0
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.5
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.4
2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.7
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As events, such as acquisitions, dispositions or impairments, occur in the future, these amounts
may vary.

8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM DEBT

U.S. dollar obligations:
Senior notes (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.375% 2007 $249.5 $249.3
Notes payable (2)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.96%-8.21% 2006-2009 63.2 76.0
Revolving credit facilities (3)ÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì
Capitalized lease obligations ÏÏÏ 8.00% 2011 0.2 0.3

312.9 325.6

Foreign currency obligations:
Notes payable (2)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.18%-7.30% 2007 3.6 16.3
Revolving credit facilities (3)ÏÏÏ 2.12%-7.75% 2006 7.8 8.6
Capitalized lease obligations ÏÏÏ 2.69%-4.12% 2007-2008 1.4 3.5

12.8 28.4

Total short-term borrowings and
long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 325.7 354.0

Short-term borrowings and current
portion of long-term debt (4) ÏÏÏ 67.6 34.4

Long-term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $258.1 $319.6

(1) The senior notes, due in November 2006, are unsecured unsubordinated obligations and rank
equally with all of our other unsecured unsubordinated indebtedness. We may redeem some or
all of the senior notes at any time at the greater of the full principal amount of the notes being
redeemed, or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest
discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the treasury rate plus 35 basis
points, plus, in both cases, accrued and unpaid interest. The original notes were priced at
99.48% of par. The discount is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
senior notes.

(2) Notes payable represents amounts payable to various banks and other creditors, a portion of
which is collateralized by the underlying assets. Certain agreements contain Ñnancial covenants
that include, among others, a minimum net worth, a minimum interest coverage ratio and a
minimum debt ratio. As of February 25, 2005, we were in compliance with all covenants under
these facilities.

In May 2000, we began leasing aircraft through a synthetic lease structure that meets the
FIN 46(R) definition of a special-purpose entity. As of February 27, 2004, the aircraft was
capitalized on our balance sheet and the related obligation of $48.0 was recorded as debt as
required by the provisions of FIN 46(R). This debt is secured by the aircraft and matures in May
2005.

Approximately $6.3 of notes payable as of February 25, 2005 and $10.7 of notes payable as of
February 27, 2004 are collateralized by lease receivables.

(3) During 2004, we Ñnalized a $250 million 3-year global committed bank facility. Our obligations
under this facility are unsecured and unsubordinated. As of February 25, 2005 and February 27,
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2004, we had no borrowings against this facility. The Company may, at its option, and subject to
certain conditions, request to increase the aggregate commitment by up to $100 million by
obtaining at least one commitment from one or more lenders. We can use borrowings under this
facility for general corporate purposes, including friendly acquisitions. Maturities range from
overnight to six months as determined by us, subject to certain limitations. Interest on borrowings
of a term of one month or greater is based on LIBOR plus a margin or a base rate, as selected
by us. Interest on borrowings of a term of less than one month is based on prime rate plus a
margin or a base rate. This facility requires us to satisfy Ñnancial covenants including a minimum
net worth covenant, a maximum debt ratio covenant, a minimum interest coverage ratio covenant
and an asset coverage ratio covenant. In October 2003, Moody's Investor Services lowered its
rating on the Company to Ba1, thus activating the asset coverage ratio covenant. As of
February 25, 2005, we were in compliance with all covenants under this facility.

Additionally, we have entered into agreements with certain Ñnancial institutions, which provide for
borrowings on unsecured non-committed short-term credit facilities of up to $35.0 of U.S. dollar
obligations and $95.1 of foreign currency obligations as of February 25, 2005. Interest rates are
variable and determined by agreement at the time of borrowing. These agreements expire within
one year, and subject to certain conditions may be renewed annually. Borrowings on these
facilities as of February 25, 2005 were $7.8 and as of February 27, 2004 were $8.6.

(4) The weighted average interest rate for short-term borrowings and the current portion of long-term
debt were 6.4% and 5.8% at February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004, respectively.

2006ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 67.6
2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 256.0
2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.0
2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .1

$325.7

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS

DeÑned contribution retirement plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 14.6 $ 15.3
Post-retirement medical beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 191.0 191.4
DeÑned beneÑt pension plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 43.6 40.1
Deferred compensation plan and agreements ÏÏÏÏÏ 32.2 30.8

281.4 277.6
Current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31.7 33.9

Long-term portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $249.7 $243.7

DeÑned Contribution Retirement Plans

Substantially all United States employees are eligible to participate in deÑned contribution
retirement plans, primarily the Steelcase Inc. Retirement Plan (the ""Retirement Plan''). Company
contributions and 401(k) pre-tax employee contributions fund the Retirement Plan. All contributions
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are made to a trust, which is held for the sole beneÑt of participants. For certain participating
locations, the Retirement Plan requires minimum annual Company contributions of 5% of eligible
annual compensation. Additional Company contributions for this plan are discretionary and declared
by the Compensation Committee at the end of each Ñscal year. As of February 25, 2005, the
Company-funded portion of the trust had net assets of approximately $1.0 billion. The Company's
other deÑned contribution retirement plans provide for matching contributions and/or discretionary
contributions declared by management.

Total expense under all deÑned contribution retirement plans was $17.7 for 2005, $18.7 for 2004
and $19.1 for 2003. We expect to contribute approximately $17.0 to our deÑned contribution plans in
2006.

Post-retirement Medical BeneÑts

We maintain unfunded post-retirement beneÑt plans that provide medical and life insurance
beneÑts to certain North American based retirees and eligible dependents. We accrue the cost of
post-retirement insurance beneÑts during the service lives of employees based on actuarial
calculations for each plan. These plans are unfunded, but we have purchased company owned life
insurance policies with the intention of utilizing them as a long-term funding source for post-retirement
medical beneÑts and other obligations (see Note 6). However, it is likely that over the next several
years annual inÖows from the policies will not be suÇcient to meet annual outÖows for the beneÑt
plans. The diÅerence would represent a use of cash.

During 2003 and 2004, the plans were amended limiting certain beneÑts. These amendments
resulted in the establishment of unrecognized prior service gains that are being amortized over the
remaining service life of the aÅected plans' participants. Due to the workforce reductions in the past
three years, curtailment accounting rules were triggered and we recognized plan curtailment gains of
$2.6 in 2005, $3.8 in 2004, and $16.4 in 2003.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB StaÅ Position (""FSP'') 106-2 as a result of the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the ""Medicare Act''). The Medicare
Act entitles employers who provide certain prescription drug beneÑts for retirees to receive a federal
subsidy beginning in calendar 2006, thereby creating the potential for signiÑcant beneÑt cost savings.
We adopted FSP 106-2 in Q3 2005. We provide retiree drug beneÑts through our U.S. post-retirement
beneÑt plans that exceed the value of the beneÑts that will be provided by Medicare Part D.
Therefore, we believe that the value of these beneÑts is at least ""actuarially equivalent'' to the
Medicare Part D plan and that we will be eligible for the Medicare Act subsidy (""subsidy'').

We remeasured our accumulated post-retirement beneÑt obligation (""APBO'') as of Septem-
ber 1, 2004 to consider the eÅects of the preliminary regulations related to the Medicare Act. As a
result, the APBO decreased approximately $19.0 due to the expectation that the Company would
qualify for the subsidy for our U.S. post-retirement beneÑt plan participants who qualiÑed for
retirement prior to March 1, 1999. As a result of the Ñnal regulations which were issued in January
2005, we believe the Company will qualify for the subsidy for all our U.S. post-retirement beneÑt plan
participants. We recorded an additional unrealized gain which reduced our accumulated beneÑt
obligation by $15.0 when we remeasured our APBO on February 25, 2005. The APBO was $205.5 at
February 25, 2005. In addition, the Medicare Act reduced pre-tax post-retirement expense by $1.2 in
2005 and we expect that the Medicare Act will reduce our 2006 expense by $4.6.
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DeÑned BeneÑt Pension Plans

Our deÑned beneÑt pension plans include various qualiÑed domestic and foreign retirement plans
as well as non-qualiÑed supplemental retirement plans that are limited to a select group of
management or highly compensated employees. The accrued beneÑt plan obligation for the non-
qualiÑed supplemental retirement plan is primarily related to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemen-
tal Retirement Plan. This plan is unfunded, but we have purchased company owned life insurance
policies with the intention of utilizing them as a long-term funding source for the plan and other post-
retirement beneÑt plan obligations (see Note 6). Our foreign plans are subject to currency translation
impacts. The funded status of our deÑned beneÑt pension plans is as follows:

Plan assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $11.3 $ 36.3 $ Ì $11.4 $ 31.9 $ Ì
Projected beneÑt plan

obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.3 57.7 24.4 11.9 51.2 22.1

Funded status ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.0 $(21.4) $(24.4) $(0.5) $(19.3) $(22.1)

Accrued beneÑt plan
obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.6 $ 22.3 $ 20.7 $ 0.9 $ 20.2 $ 19.0

Accumulated beneÑt
obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10.3 $ 53.1 $ 20.3 $11.9 $ 48.3 $ 18.8

Summary Disclosures for DeÑned BeneÑt and Post-retirement Plans

The following tables summarize the required disclosures related to our deÑned beneÑt pension
and post-retirement plans. We used a measurement date of December 31, 2004 for our foreign
pension plans, and February 25, 2005 for our domestic pension plans, non-qualiÑed supplemental
retirement plans and foreign and domestic post-retirement plans.

Change in beneÑt obligations:
Projected beneÑt plan obligations, beginning

of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 85.2 $ 74.9 $ 230.8 $ 234.0
Service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 2.4 3.2 4.3
Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.7 4.4 12.9 14.5
Amendments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (0.1) (13.4)
Net actuarial loss (gain) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 4.7 (27.6) 9.6
Plan participants' contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.1 4.2 4.3
Currency changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.7 6.5 0.3 0.4
Adjustment due to plan curtailmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (1.8) (5.9)
Adjustment due to plan settlement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (1.4) Ì Ì
BeneÑts paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.3) (7.3) (16.4) (17.0)
Other adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.9 Ì Ì

Projected beneÑt plan obligations, end of year 92.3 85.2 205.5 230.8
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Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of yearÏÏÏ 43.5 36.6 Ì Ì
Actual return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.8 5.7 Ì Ì
Employer contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.8 4.8 12.2 12.7
Plan participants' contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.1 4.2 4.3
Currency changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.7 4.0 Ì Ì
BeneÑts paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6.3) (7.3) (16.4) (17.0)
Other adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.6) Ì Ì

Fair value of plan assets, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47.5 43.3 Ì Ì

Funded status ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (44.8) (41.9) (205.5) (230.8)
Unrecognized prior service cost (gain) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 1.0 (35.3) (43.0)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15.3 13.2 49.8 82.4

Net amount recognized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(28.7) $(27.7) $(191.0) $(191.4)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated
balance sheets:

Accrued beneÑt plan obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(43.6) $(40.1) $(191.0) $(191.4)
Prepaid pension costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.6 5.0 Ì Ì
Intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 0.3 Ì Ì
Accumulated other comprehensive income ÏÏÏ 9.2 7.1 Ì Ì

Net amount recognized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(28.7) $(27.7) $(191.0) $(191.4)
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Components of
expense:

Service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3.0 $ 2.4 $ 2.4 $ 3.2 $ 4.3 $ 4.5
Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.7 4.4 4.3 12.9 14.5 15.3
Amortization of prior year

service cost (gain) ÏÏÏ 0.3 0.7 1.5 (5.4) (3.9) (5.2)
Expected return on plan

assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.0) (2.6) (3.0) Ì Ì Ì
Adjustment due to plan

curtailmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.1 1.3 (2.6) (3.8) (16.4)
Adjustment due to plan

settlement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.1 (0.3) 1.3 Ì Ì Ì
Amortization of

unrecognized net
actuarial lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 0.5 0.3 3.5 3.7 2.9

Net expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.3 $ 5.2 $ 8.1 $ 11.6 $14.8 $ 1.1

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine beneÑt
obligations:

Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.25% 5.75% 6.00% 5.60% 6.10% 6.50%
Rate of salary

progression ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.25% 3.00% 3.90% Ì Ì Ì
Weighted-average

assumptions used to
determine net
periodic beneÑt
cost (1):

Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.70% 5.75% n/a 6.05% 6.41% n/a
Expected return on plan

assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.00% 6.80% n/a Ì Ì n/a
Rate of salary

progression ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.90% 3.75% n/a n/a n/a n/a

(1) The weighted-average assumptions used to determined net periodic beneÑt cost are not available
as of February 28, 2003.

We set the discount rate assumption annually for each of our retirement-related beneÑt plans at
their respective measurement dates to reÖect the yield of a portfolio of high quality, Ñxed-income debt
instruments matched against the timing and amounts of projected future beneÑts. In evaluating the
expected return on plan assets, we have considered the expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets based on the speciÑc allocation of assets for each plan, an analysis of current market
conditions and the views of leading Ñnancial advisors and economists.

The assumed health care cost trend was 11.0% as of February 25, 2005, gradually declining to
4.5% in 2015 and thereafter. At February 27, 2004, the assumed health care cost trend was 11.0%
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gradually declining to 4.5% in 2012 and thereafter. A one percentage point change in assumed health
care cost trend rates would have the following eÅects:

EÅect on total of service and interest cost components $ 1.5 $ (1.2)
EÅect on post-retirement beneÑt obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16.2 $(13.9)

Our pension plans' weighted-average investment allocation strategies and weighted-average
target asset allocations by asset category as of February 25, 2005 are in the following table. The
target allocations are established by the investment committees of each plan. The targets are
established in an eÅort to provide a return after considering the risk and return of the underlying
investments. There were no signiÑcant changes in the target allocations of our plan investments
during 2005. The changes in weighted average target allocations between asset categories in the
table below primarily relate to the weighting of our various plans.

Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50% 48% 53% 45%
Debt securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30 31 20 25
Real estateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2 2 2 2
Other(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18 19 25 28

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100% 100% 100% 100%

(1) Represents guaranteed insurance contracts, money market funds and cash.

We expect to contribute approximately $5.0 to our pension plans and $12.1 to our post-
retirement plans in 2006. Our estimated future cash outÖows for beneÑt payments under our pension
and post-retirement plans are as follows:

2006ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.0 $12.1 $ Ì $12.1
2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.1 12.9 (1.3) 11.6
2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.7 13.8 (1.4) 12.4
2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.9 14.5 (1.7) 12.8
2010ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.3 15.1 (1.8) 13.3
2011-2015 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25.0 84.4 (11.9) 72.5

Deferred Compensation Plans and Agreements

We have deferred compensation obligations to certain employees who have elected to defer a
portion of their salary for a period of three to Ñve years. We also maintain a deferred compensation
plan that is intended to restore retirement beneÑts that would otherwise be paid under the Retirement
Plan, but are lost as a result of the limitations on eligible compensation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 401(a)17. These deferred compensation obligations are unfunded, but we have purchased
company owned life insurance policies, with the intention of utilizing them as a future funding source
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for the deferred compensation obligation and other post-retirement beneÑt plan obligations (see
further discussion in Note 6). Deferred compensation expense, which represents annual participant
earnings on amounts that have been deferred, approximated $2.8 for 2005, $2.8 for 2004, and $2.3
for 2003.

10. CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Terms of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock

The holders of Common Stock are generally entitled to vote as a single class on all matters upon
which shareholders have a right to vote, subject to the requirements of the applicable laws and the
rights of any series of Preferred Stock to a separate class vote. Each share of Class A Common Stock
entitles its holder to one vote and each share of Class B Common Stock entitles its holder to 10
votes. The Class B Common Stock is convertible into Class A Common Stock on a share-for-share
basis (i) at the option of the holder at any time, (ii) upon transfer to a person or entity which is not a
Permitted Transferee (as deÑned in the Second Restated Articles of Incorporation), (iii) with respect
to shares of Class B Common Stock acquired after the recapitalization of our Common Stock
approved in 1998, at such time as a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or
charitable organization holding such shares ceases to be 100% controlled by Permitted Transferees
and (iv) on the date on which the number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding is less
than 15% of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock (without regard to voting rights).

Except for the voting and conversion features, the terms of Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock are generally similar. That is, the holders are entitled to equal dividends when
declared by the Board and generally will receive the same per share consideration in the event of a
merger, and be treated on an equal per share basis in the event of a liquidation or winding up of the
Company. In addition, the Company is not entitled to issue additional shares of Class B Common
Stock, or issue options, rights or warrants to subscribe for additional shares of Class B Common
Stock, except that the Company may make a pro rata oÅer to all holders of Common Stock of rights
to purchase additional shares of the class of Common Stock held by them, and any dividend payable
in common stock will be paid in the form of Class A Common Stock to Class A holders and Class B
Common Stock to Class B holders. Neither class of stock may be split, divided, or combined unless
the other class is proportionally split, divided or combined.

Preferred Stock

The Second Restated Articles of Incorporation authorize the Board, without any vote or action by
the shareholders, to create one or more series of Preferred Stock up to the limit of the Company's
authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock and to Ñx the designations, preferences, rights,
qualiÑcations, limitations and restrictions thereof, including the voting rights, dividend rights, dividend
rate, conversion rights, terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or
prices, liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any series.

11. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

Our stock incentive plans include the Steelcase Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ""Stock
Purchase Plan'') and the Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (the ""Incentive Compensation
Plan''). Awards currently outstanding include restricted shares, restricted stock units, performance
shares, performance share units and non-qualiÑed stock options.
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Stock Purchase Plan

We reserved a maximum of 1,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock for use under the Stock
Purchase Plan, which is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the ""Code''). Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Plan, each eligible employee, as of the
start of any purchase period, is granted an option to purchase a designated number of shares of
Class A Common Stock. The purchase price of shares of Class A Common Stock to participating
employees is designated by the Compensation Committee but in no event shall be less than 85% of
the lower of the fair market values of such shares on the Ñrst and last trading days of the relevant
purchase period. However, no employee may purchase shares under the Stock Purchase Plan in any
calendar year with an aggregate fair market value (as determined on the Ñrst day of the relevant
purchase period) in excess of $25,000. As of February 25, 2005, 454,721 shares remain available for
purchase under the Stock Purchase Plan. The Board may at any time amend or terminate the Stock
Purchase Plan.

Incentive Compensation Plan

The Compensation Committee has full authority, subject to the provisions of the Incentive
Compensation Plan, to determine:

‚ persons to whom awards under the Incentive Compensation Plan will be made;

‚ exercise price;

‚ vesting;

‚ size and type of such awards; and

‚ speciÑc performance goals, restrictions on transfer and circumstances for forfeiture applicable
to awards.

A variety of awards may be granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan including stock
options, stock appreciation rights (""SARs''), restricted stock (as discussed below), performance
shares, performance units, cash-based awards, phantom shares and other share-based awards.
Outstanding awards under the Incentive Compensation Plan vest over a period of three to Ñve years.
Stock options granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan may be either incentive stock options
intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code or non-qualiÑed stock options not so intended. The
Board may amend or terminate the Incentive Compensation Plan.

In the event of a ""change of control'', as deÑned in the Incentive Compensation Plan,

‚ all outstanding options and SARs granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan will become
immediately exercisable and remain exercisable throughout their entire term;

‚ any performance-based conditions imposed with respect to outstanding awards shall be
deemed to be fully earned and a pro rata portion of each such outstanding award granted for
all outstanding performance periods shall become payable in shares of Class A Common Stock,
in the case of awards denominated in shares of Class A Common Stock, and in cash, in the
case of awards denominated in cash, with the remainder of such award being canceled for no
value; and

‚ all restrictions imposed on restricted stock that are not performance-based shall lapse.

Since inception of the Incentive Compensation Plan in 1998, we have reserved for issuance
21,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock (see further discussion of stock-based compensation in
Note 2).
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Restricted Stock

Under the Incentive Compensation Plan, the Compensation Committee approved the granting of
restricted shares of Class A Common Stock and restricted stock units (""RSUs'') during 2004 and
2005 to key employees. Restricted shares and RSUs will be forfeited if a participant leaves the
Company for reasons other than retirement, disability or death prior to the vesting date. These
restrictions lapse when the restricted shares and RSUs vest three years from the date of grant. When
RSUs vest, they will be converted to unrestricted common stock shares. The aggregate market value
of the restricted stock shares at the date of issuance of $3.7 in 2005 and $2.1 in 2004 was recorded
as deferred compensation, a separate component of shareholders' equity, and is being amortized over
the three-year vesting period of the grants. The RSUs are expensed over the three-year vesting period
based on the current market value of the shares to be granted. Holders of restricted stock receive
cash dividends equal to the dividends that the Company declares and pays on the Class A Common
Stock. Holders of RSUs receive quarterly cash payments equal to the dividend that the Company
declares and pays on its Class A Common Stock.

Additionally, the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee have delegated to the
Chief Executive OÇcer the administrative authority to award restricted stock to employees in amounts
considered immaterial to the Incentive Compensation Plan. The awards are subject to limitations and
the provisions of the Incentive Compensation Plan and are reviewed by the Compensation Committee.
The limitations include, but are not limited to, the number of shares of restricted stock that may be
awarded in any plan year and the number of shares of restricted stock that may be awarded to any
individual in one plan year.

The 2005 and 2004 activity for restricted shares of stock and RSUs is as follows:

February 23, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,000 Ì

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 220,000 48,000
ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,400) Ì

February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 222,600 48,000
Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 276,650 58,000
Vested ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,600) Ì
ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (17,750) (17,000)

February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 477,900 89,000

Performance Shares

In 2005, the Company established a program to provide performance shares and performance
share unit awards (""PSUs'') under the Incentive Compensation Plan. The performance measure for
these awards is based on a cumulative three-year cash Öow calculation as deÑned by the Incentive
Compensation Plan.

After completion of the performance period for performance shares, the number of the shares
earned is issued and registered as Class A Common Stock. One-third of the shares vest immediately
and the remaining two-thirds vest equally over the next two years.

At the end of the performance period for PSUs, the number of units earned is determined. One-
third are issued as Class A Common Stock. The remaining two-thirds will vest and will be issued and
registered as Class A Common Stock over the next two years.
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Performance shares and PSUs are expensed over the Ñve-year performance and vesting period
based on the market value on the grant date of the estimated number of shares to be issued. The
actual number of common shares that ultimately may be issued ranges from zero to 376,000 shares
based on actual performance levels. For both performance shares and PSUs, a dividend equivalent is
calculated on the basis of the actual number of shares earned at the end of the three-year
performance period. The dividend equivalent is equal to the dividends that would have been payable
on the earned shares had they been held during the entire performance period. The dividend
equivalent is paid at the end of the three-year performance period. Subsequently, dividends and
dividend equivalents will be paid on the shares and PSUs during the vesting period. The target award
granted in 2005 was a total of 207,000 performance shares and PSUs. As of February 25, 2005,
PSUs forfeited totaled 19,000.

Stock Options

Information relating to our stock options, which pursuant to APB Opinion No. 25 did not result in
any compensation expense recognized by us, is as follows:

February 22, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,515,975 $16.87
Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,754,576 $16.12
Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (321,528) $11.91
Options forfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,001,390) $16.91

February 28, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,947,633 $16.76
Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì $ Ì
Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (146,860) $10.91
Options forfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (558,998) $20.12

February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,241,775 $16.66
Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì $ Ì
Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (346,181) $11.92
Options forfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (765,509) $23.25

February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,130,085 $16.30

Exercisable options:
February 28, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,389,038 $18.95
February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,297,914 $17.22
February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,110,381 $16.33

$10.50 to $15.30 4,605,868 5.2 $12.36 4,538,034 $12.38
$16.03 to $17.31 3,020,867 6.9 $16.45 2,068,997 $16.46
$28.00 to $36.50 1,503,350 2.9 $28.05 1,503,350 $28.05

$10.50 to $36.50 9,130,085 5.4 $16.30 8,110,381 $16.33
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The price per share of options outstanding ranged from $10.50 to $36.50 as of February 25,
2005, February 27, 2004, and February 28, 2003. As of February 25, 2005, there were
9,906,113 shares available for future issuances under our Incentive Compensation Plan.

The fair value of each option grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

Risk-free interest rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ n/a n/a 4.3%
Dividend yield ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ n/a n/a 2.7%
Volatility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ n/a n/a 37.9%
Average expected term (years) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ n/a n/a 4.0
Fair value per share of options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏ n/a n/a $4.49

12. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6.7 $ 3.5 $ 3.8
Gain (loss) on dealer transitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.2 (8.7) (8.3)
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (0.1) 9.8 16.4
Joint venture income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.0 1.2 0.6
Miscellaneous, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.1) (5.8) 3.9

$ 7.7 $ Ì $16.4

Interest income increased in 2005 primarily due to higher cash balances and higher interest rates.

The gain on dealer transitions recorded in 2005 is primarily related to the equity return of a
European dealer transition and a recovery on a dealer transition Ñnancing previously reserved. The
majority of the loss recorded in 2004 related to an International dealer transition. During 2004, we
assumed control of the dealership and reduced the carrying value of our investment in the dealer to
the net book value of the dealer's underlying tangible assets, which approximated its fair value. After
assuming control of the dealer, its Ñnancial statements were included in our consolidated Ñnancial
statements. During 2003, we recognized losses on dealer transitions primarily related to two
International dealers that were signiÑcantly aÅected by the oÇce furniture recession in their markets.
Losses on dealer transitions relate to uncollectible funds loaned to or invested in dealers to Ñnance
ownership changes and are classiÑed as non-operating. These losses do not include write-oÅs of
receivables that have arisen as a result of product sales which are classiÑed as operating expenses.

During 2004, the gain on disposal of property and equipment primarily related to excess real
estate in our International segment which was sold for net cash proceeds of $11.5 and a pre-tax non-
operating gain of $7.0. The gain in 2003 primarily related to the sale of our Tustin, California
manufacturing facility and write-oÅ of related equipment following the relocation of the operations to a
smaller, more eÇcient facility. We received net proceeds of $35.7 and recorded a net gain of $15.1.
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13. INCOME TAXES

Provision (BeneÑt) for Income Taxes

The provision (beneÑt) for income taxes on income from continuing operations consists of:

Current income taxes:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (6.1) $ (23.6) $ 7.9
State and local ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.8) (1.9) 0.4
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19.5 13.1 12.3

8.6 (12.4) 20.6

Deferred income taxes:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8.7 (12.4) (23.7)
State and local ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 (3.3) 0.3
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (25.0) (22.8) (22.3)

(15.3) (38.5) (45.7)

Income tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (6.7) $ (50.9) $(25.1)

Income taxes have been based on the following components of earnings (loss) before income
taxes on continuing income:

Domestic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12.2 $(126.9) $(41.4)
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7.2) 34.0 (25.3)

$ 5.0 $ (92.9) $(66.7)
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The total income tax expense (beneÑt) we recognized is reconciled to that computed under the
federal statutory tax rate of 35% as follows:

Tax expense (beneÑt) at federal
statutory rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.8 $(32.4) $(23.6)

State and local income taxes, net of
federal tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.3) (2.7) 0.3

Corporate owned life insuranceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.2) (5.3) Ì
Research and experimentation creditÏÏÏÏ (2.3) (2.5) (1.5)
Net tax expense (beneÑt) relating to

foreign operations, less applicable
foreign tax credit, net of valuation
allowance on foreign losses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.4 2.6 (1.8)

Adjustment to tax reserves (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10.9) (5.3) 2.0
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.8 (5.3) (0.5)

Total income tax beneÑt recognized ÏÏÏÏ $ (6.7) $(50.9) $(25.1)

(1) Based on the results of a recent appeal settlement with the IRS for the year ended 1997, we
recorded an adjustment of $8.2 in 2005 reversing reserves that were no longer necessary
relating to this issue. Remaining reserves were adjusted to better reÖect our estimates of
potential audit exposure. The change in reserves for 2004 was based on the results of a
completed IRS tax audit for years ended 1999, 2000 and 2001. The change in tax reserves for
2003 represented adjustments to the reserves to better reÖect our estimates of potential audit
exposure.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax eÅects of temporary
diÅerences between tax bases of an asset or liability and its reported amount in the Ñnancial
statements. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on enacted tax laws and
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rates currently in eÅect in each of the jurisdictions in which the Company has operations. The
signiÑcant components of deferred income taxes are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:
Employee beneÑt plan obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $120.2 $116.6
Foreign and domestic operating losses, net of valuation

allowances of $26.0 and $21.4 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 99.6 81.6
Reserves and allowances ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 44.7 58.1
Tax credit carryforwards, net of valuation allowances of

$4.3 and $4.8 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23.4 22.8
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.0 7.4

Total deferred income tax assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 299.9 286.5

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (53.9) (58.9)
Intangible assets and other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10.6) (8.4)

Total deferred income tax liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (64.5) (67.3)

Net deferred income tax assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 235.4 219.2
Current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 89.8 101.5

Non-current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $145.6 $117.7

The total amount of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are deemed to be
permanently invested, amounted to $91.1 as of February 25, 2005. No provision has been made for
foreign withholding taxes or United States income taxes which may become payable if undistributed
earnings of foreign subsidiaries were paid as dividends to us because it is not practicable to estimate
the amount of those taxes. Subject to certain limitations, withholding taxes on foreign dividends would
be available for use as credit against the United States tax liability.

Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards

As of February 25, 2005, we had $334.8 of foreign and domestic operating loss carryforwards
and $27.7 of tax credit carryforwards. Future tax beneÑts for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization of these beneÑts is considered more likely
than not. It is considered more likely than not that a beneÑt of $123.0 will be realized on these
carryforwards. This determination is based on the expectation that related operations will be
suÇciently proÑtable or various tax, business and other planning strategies available to us will enable
us to utilize the carryforwards. We cannot be assured that we will be able to realize these future tax
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beneÑts or that future valuation allowances will not be required. The operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards expire as follows:

2006ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.4 $ 0.1 $ Ì
2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.3 0.1 Ì
2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.3 2.6 Ì
2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.2 4.3 Ì
2010-2025 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 104.4 47.2 26.1
No expiration ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 210.2 71.3 1.6

334.8 125.6 27.7

Valuation allowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (26.0) (4.3)

Net beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $334.8 $ 99.6 $23.4

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK, COMMITMENTS,
GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of investment and credit risk,
primarily consist of cash and equivalents, investments, accounts and notes receivable, direct Ñnance
lease receivables, company owned life insurance policies, accounts payable and short-term
borrowings and long-term debt. We place our cash and equivalents with high-quality Ñnancial
institutions and invest in high-quality securities and commercial paper. Under our investment policy,
we limit our exposure to any one debtor.

We use derivative Ñnancial instruments, principally forward contracts and swaps, interest rate
swaps and caps, and a net investment hedge primarily to reduce our exposure to adverse Öuctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. We do not use derivative Ñnancial instruments
for speculative or trading purposes.

We have used interest rate swap contracts to eÅectively convert Öoating rate debt to a Ñxed rate.
These contracts are designated as hedges against possible changes in the amount of future cash
Öows associated with interest payments of the existing variable-rate obligations. See Note 2 for more
information regarding interest rate swaps and caps. The net eÅect on our operating results is that
interest expense on the variable-rate debt being hedged is recorded based on Ñxed interest rates. As
of February 25, 2005, we had two of these swap contracts in place. Both contracts mature in Q1
2006 at the same time as the underlying debt.

Information regarding our interest rate swaps is summarized below.

Cash Öow hedgesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $0.6 $47.1 6.6% $3.7 $56.0 6.2%-6.6%

The notional amounts shown above do not necessarily represent amounts exchanged by the
parties and, therefore, are not a direct measure of our exposure from our use of derivatives. The
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amounts exchanged are calculated by reference to the notional amounts and by other terms of the
derivatives, such as interest rates, exchange rates or other Ñnancial indices.

A portion of our revenues, earnings and net investments in foreign aÇliates are exposed to
changes in foreign exchange rates. We seek to manage our foreign exchange risk in part through
operational means, including matching same currency revenues with same currency costs and same
currency assets with same currency liabilities. Foreign exchange risk is also managed through the use
of derivative Ñnancial instruments. These Ñnancial instruments serve to protect net income and net
investments against the impact of the translation into U.S. dollars of certain foreign exchange
denominated transactions. To hedge these exposures, we principally use foreign exchange contacts.
The notional amounts of all of the outstanding foreign exchange contracts were $208.5 at
February 25, 2005 and $75.5 at February 27, 2004. The fair value of these contracts was immaterial
at February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004.

Other comprehensive income (loss) related to derivatives consisted of the following components:

Change in fair value of derivative instruments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.1 $(1.3) $(3.5)
Adjustment due to swap settlement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 4.9
Settlement to interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.6 1.9 3.3

Derivative adjustments, net of tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.7 $ 0.6 $ 4.7

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Approximately half of our trade receivables are from independent dealers, who in turn carry
receivables from their customers. We monitor and manage the credit risk associated with individual
dealers. Dealers, rather than the Company, are responsible for assessing and assuming credit risk of
their customers, and may require their customers to provide deposits, letters of credit or other credit
enhancement measures. Some sales contracts are structured such that the customer payment or
obligation is direct to the Company. In those cases, the Company assumes the credit risk. Whether
from dealers or customers, our trade credit exposures are not concentrated with any particular entity.

We also have net investments in lease assets related to furniture leases originated and funded by
the Financial Services segment. Because the underlying net investment in leases represents multiple
orders from individual customers, there are some concentrations of credit risk with certain customers.
Our three largest lease customers make up $18.0 of gross lease receivables at the end of 2005 which
represents 52.0% of our total net investments in lease assets. Although we believe that reserves are
adequate in total, a deterioration of one of these larger credit exposures would likely require additional
charges and reserves.

Lease Commitments

We lease certain sales oÇces, showrooms and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases
that expire at various dates through 2020. During the normal course of business, we have entered
into several sale-leaseback arrangements for certain equipment and facilities. In accordance with
GAAP, these leases are accounted for as operating leases and any gains from the sale of the original
properties were recorded as deferred gains and are amortized over the lease term. The deferred gains
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are included as a component of Other Long-term Liabilities, and amounted to $25.2 as of
February 25, 2005 and $27.2 as of February 27, 2004.

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 52.1
2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41.0
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.1
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30.1
2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27.0
ThereafterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 105.9

$291.2

Rent expense under all operating leases was $57.9 for 2005, $57.2 for 2004, and $58.5 for 2003,
as restated.

Guarantees and Performance Bonds

We are contingently liable under loan guarantees for certain Steelcase dealers and joint ventures
in the event of default or non-performance of the Ñnancial repayment of the liability. The guarantees
generally have terms ranging from one to ten years. No losses have been experienced; however,
reserves totaling $0.6 are recorded as of February 25, 2005 to cover potential losses for loan
guarantees entered into subsequent to December 31, 2002, in accordance with FIN 45, Guarantor's
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees and Indebted-
ness of Others.

We are also party to performance bonds for certain installation or construction activities of certain
Steelcase dealers. Under these agreements, we are liable to make Ñnancial payments if the installation
or construction activities are not completed under their speciÑed guidelines and claims are Ñled.
Projects with performance bonds have completion dates ranging from one to Ñve years.

Where we have supplied performance bonds for dealers, we have the ability to step in and cure
performance failures by the dealers thereby mitigating our potential losses. No loss has been
experienced under these performance bonds; however, reserves totaling $0.3 are recorded as of
February 25, 2005 to cover potential losses.

In 2004, we had approximately $60.0 in performance bonds related to a construction project that
was completed, but for which we had not received Ñnal approval from the customer. During Q4 2005,
we received approval from the customer and the bond was released with no loss.
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The maximum amount of future payments (undiscounted and without reduction for any amounts
that may possibly be recovered from third parties) we could be required to make under the
guarantees and performance bonds are as follows:

Performance bondsÌjoint ventures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $65.5
Performance bondsÌdealersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.4 5.4
Guarantees with dealers and joint ventures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.6 19.3
GuaranteesÌotherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.2 4.2

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $24.2 $94.4

Contingencies

We depend on our dealers to represent us to customers in individual geographic markets, which
can be deÑned as a country, region, or major metropolitan area. We believe these dealers are a
signiÑcant source of competitive advantage. There are some geographic markets where we are
represented by a single dealer, or where business is highly concentrated in a single dealer. In those
situations, the loss of the dealer could negatively aÅect our ability to maintain market share and
compete for new business in that market while a new dealer is established. There are other situations
where an individual dealer principal, partnership or corporation may own multiple dealerships in
various markets. Therefore, we have, in the past, sometimes elected to make debt and equity
investments or guarantees to facilitate ownership transitions to avoid a disruption in the operation of
the dealership. We have also, in the past, sometimes elected to assume, provide or guarantee credit
for dealerships and dealer owners experiencing economic diÇculty. All such contractual obligations,
guarantees and contingencies are disclosed in the Ñnancial statements and notes. However, it is
possible that we may have additional non-contractual contingent exposures related to our dependence
on individual dealers in key markets and certain dealer owners, as described above. It is not
practicable to estimate this exposure.

We are continuing actions to implement lean manufacturing principles, which involves consolida-
tion of plants, relocation of products between plants, new processes, and adoption of new supply
chain strategies. There is some risk that these actions could lead to temporary disruptions or
increased costs. We have planned our implementation carefully to minimize those risks, and have
successfully mitigated those risks in the past.

Many of our operations are relatively centralized which has given us better control over the
factors of production. However, this may also expose us to business interruption risk if a key operation
is lost due to casualty. We have taken steps to reduce this risk through contingency planning, and
through business interruption insurance.

We routinely launch new products and periodically remove older products from our oÅering. In
general, we expect new products to help us gain market share, and we expect customers to move
from older products to our newer oÅerings. There is some risk that new products will not be
successful and related Ñxed asset investments could be impaired. There is also some risk that we
lose customers, and therefore market share, when we cull a product from our line. We take steps,
including phased implementations and migration strategies, to reduce these risks.

We have several discretionary incentive compensation plans that cover the majority of our
employees. These plans are based on factors such as Economic Value Added and other Ñnancial
proÑtability and performance measures. Annual bonuses are payable after the end of the Ñscal year
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and therefore, are included in accrued Employee Compensation expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We are involved in various tax matters. We establish reserves at the time that we determine that
it is probable that we will be liable to pay additional taxes related to certain matters. We adjust these
reserves, including any impact of related interest and penalties, in light of changing facts and
circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits.

A number of years may elapse before a particular matter, for which we have established a
reserve, is audited and Ñnally resolved or when a tax assessment is raised. The number of years with
open tax audits varies depending on the tax jurisdiction. While it is often diÇcult to predict the Ñnal
outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular matter, we record a reserve when we determine
the likelihood of loss is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Such liabilities are
recorded in Income taxes payable on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Favorable resolution of tax
matters that had been reserved would be recognized as a reduction in our income tax expense when
known.

Litigation

We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Based on known
information, management believes we are not currently a party to any material litigation.

15. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

We operate under three reportable segments: North America, SDP and International plus an
""Other'' category.

The North America segment consists of sales and marketing operations serving customers
through a network of over 330 dealer locations in the United States and Canada. This segment sells
furniture, technology and architecture products under the Steelcase and Turnstone brands.

The SDP segment is comprised of Ñve brands focused on higher end design furniture products
and niche applications. DesignTex is focused on surface materials including textiles, wall covering,
rugs, shades, screens and surface imaging. Details designs and markets ergonomic tools and
accessories for the workplace. Brayton, Vecta, and Metro provide solutions for lobby and reception
areas, conference rooms, private oÇces, health care and learning environments. The SDP segment
distributes its products through many of the same dealers as the North America segment.

The International segment includes all sales and marketing operations of the Steelcase and SDP
brands outside the United States and Canada. The International segment serves customers through a
network of approximately 490 dealer locations.

In the past year, we continued to evolve towards a more centralized organization structure for
manufacturing, rather than decentralized by segment. However, we primarily review and evaluate
gross margin and operating income by segment in both our internal review processes and for external
Ñnancial reporting. Total assets by segment includes manufacturing assets more closely associated
with each segment.

The Other category includes PolyVision, IDEO, and Financial Services subsidiaries, ventures and
unallocated corporate expenses. Steelcase Financial Services Inc. provides leasing services to
customers primarily in North America to facilitate the purchase of our products and provides selected
Ñnancing services to our dealers. PolyVision Corporation designs and manufactures visual communica-
tions products, such as static and electronic whiteboards, for learning environments and oÇce
settings. IDEO Inc. provides product design and innovation services. Approximately 85% of corporate
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expenses, which represent shared services, are charged to the operating segments as part of a
corporate allocation. Unallocated expenses are reported within the Other category.

We evaluate performance and allocate resources based on operating income. The accounting
policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of signiÑcant
accounting policies included in Note 2.

During 2004, we sold substantially all of the net assets of our marine hardware and accessories
business, Attwood Corporation. The operating results of this business, formerly included within the
Other category, have been segregated and reported as discontinued operations for all periods
presented.

Fiscal 2005
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,439.4 $322.2 $590.5 $261.7 $2,613.8
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.5 26.2 (5.4) (8.1) 18.2
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,126.2 143.1 523.5 571.8 2,364.6
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25.4 3.0 16.3 4.5 49.2
Depreciation & amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 81.6 7.4 26.4 12.2 127.6

Fiscal 2004
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,280.4 $275.6 $539.2 $250.4 $2,345.6
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (46.9) 12.8 (27.5) (12.8) (74.4)
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,130.5 137.1 454.5 637.3 2,359.4
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18.2 4.4 16.4 4.0 43.0
Depreciation & amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 93.6 8.5 27.6 11.7 141.4

Fiscal 2003
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,497.9 $291.2 $485.9 $254.9 $2,529.9
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (19.1) 14.5 (27.1) (30.5) (62.2)
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,074.3 152.6 445.3 681.3 2,353.5
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.1 9.6 15.7 6.1 76.5
Depreciation & amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 107.3 8.7 26.9 14.5 157.4

(1) Segment Data for 2004 and 2003 has been restated to reÖect adjustments that are further
discussed in Note 3.
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Reportable geographic information is as follows:

Revenue:
United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,861.9 $1,690.4 $1,933.9
Foreign locations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 751.9 655.2 596.0

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,613.8 $2,345.6 $2,529.9

Long-lived Assets:
United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 870.6 $ 952.5 $1,011.7
Foreign locations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 226.6 252.1 259.0

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,097.2 $1,204.6 $1,270.7

Revenue is attributable to countries based on the location of the customer.

16. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2004, the Company sold substantially all of the net assets of its marine hardware and
accessories business (previously reported under the Other category) for cash proceeds of $47.9,
resulting in a pre-tax net gain of $31.9 or $20.0 after-tax. The operating results of this business have
been segregated as discontinued operations for all periods presented and include the amounts
indicated in the following table:

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $31.2 $57.0
Income before income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4.0 $ 7.3
Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.4 $ 4.7

During 2005, we reversed pre-tax reserves of $1.5 originally recorded by our former marine
hardware and accessories business. These reserves related to a legal contingency that was favorably
resolved in 2005. The $1.0 after-tax eÅect of this reversal was included within Income and gain on
sale of discontinued operations in the 2005 Consolidated Statement of Income.

17. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During 2005, we incurred restructuring charges to continue to modernize our industrial model.
Restructuring activities decreased signiÑcantly from 2004 and 2003 activities which were necessary to
align our business to industry demand levels. Restructuring activities include, but are not limited to,
workforce reductions, facility consolidations, relocation of production lines and the exit of certain
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businesses. Costs associated with these activities include, but are not limited to, severance, asset
impairments and lease impairments. Restructuring costs are summarized in the following table:

Cost of sales:
North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 7.8 $21.6 $ 9.2
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.2 Ì
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.6) 20.5 6.7
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 Ì 0.6

8.2 42.3 16.5

Operating expenses:
North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 5.4 26.2
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.9 1.4
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.8 1.4 7.1
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.4 3.5 10.0

5.2 11.2 44.7

Totals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $13.4 $53.5 $61.2

Below is a summary of the charges and payments during 2004 and 2005 that have been applied
against the reserve as of February 25, 2005.

Reserve balance as of February 28, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 11.2 $ 7.2 $ 18.4
Additions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28.4 25.1 53.5

Payments and adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (27.4) (22.4) (49.8)

Reserve balance as of February 27, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.2 9.9 22.1
Additions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.9 1.5 13.4
Payments and adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (19.0) (2.0) (21.0)

Reserve balance as of February 25, 2005ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.1 $ 9.4 $ 14.5

During 2003, our restructuring charges for workforce reductions related to 1,425 positions, all of
which occurred as of February 27, 2004. During 2004, our restructuring charges for workforce
reductions related to 1,537 positions, of which 716 occurred as of February 27, 2004. The
approximately 820 positions that remained to be eliminated related primarily to North America wood
manufacturing and International rationalization activities announced prior to February 27, 2004. As of
February 25, 2005, 125 positions remain to be eliminated with additional reserves recorded during Q3
and Q4. Additions, payments and adjustments to the workforce reductions reserve related to these
activities are recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities.

The reserve balance as of February 25, 2005 for business exits and related costs primarily relates
to asset impairments and plant consolidation costs within our International and North America
segments.
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18. UNAUDITED QUARTERLY RESULTS

2005
RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $597.7 $651.0 $674.1 $691.0 $ 2613.8
Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 167.3 195.2 188.3 194.9 745.7
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.1) 16.8 6.2 0.3 18.2
Income (loss) from continuing operationsÏÏÏÏÏ (6.7) 7.3 10.1 1.0 11.7
Discontinued operations, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 Ì Ì Ì 1.0
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5.7) 7.3 10.1 1.0 12.7
Earnings (loss) per share (basic and diluted)

from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.05) 0.05 0.07 0.01 0.08
Earnings per share from discontinued

operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.01 Ì Ì Ì 0.01
Earnings (loss) per share (basic and diluted) (0.04) 0.05 0.07 0.01 0.09

2004
RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $555.6 $612.1 $614.5 $563.4 $2,345.6
Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 146.3 167.7 166.7 134.6 615.3
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (25.3) (1.8) (6.0) (41.3) (74.4)
Loss from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (14.8) (3.2) (9.5) (14.5) (42.0)
Discontinued operations, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.4 21.3 Ì (0.3) 22.4
Cumulative eÅect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (4.2) (4.2)
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (13.4) 18.1 (9.5) (19.0) (23.8)
Earnings (loss) per share (basic and diluted)

from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.10) (0.02) (0.06) (0.10) (0.28)
Earnings per share from discontinued

operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.01 0.14 Ì Ì 0.15
Earnings per share from cumulative eÅect of

accounting change per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (0.03) (0.03)
Earnings (loss) per share (basic and diluted) (0.09) 0.12 (0.06) (0.13) (0.16)

(1) Results Data for the fourth quarter of 2004 and the full year 2004 have been restated to reÖect
adjustments that are further discussed in Note 3.
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Following is a summary of the pre-tax restructuring and other selected charges (gains) included
in our quarterly results above:

2005
Restructuring charges:

Workforce reductionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3.5 $ 2.5 $ 3.2 $ 2.7 $ 11.9
Other costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.6 (0.5) (1.5) 1.9 1.5

Total restructuring chargesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.1 $ 2.0 $ 1.7 $ 4.6 $ 13.4

2004
Restructuring charges:

Workforce reductionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9.7 $ 0.2 $ 1.2 $ 17.3 $ 28.4
Other costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.2 7.2 5.5 7.2 25.1

Total restructuring chargesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14.9 $ 7.4 $ 6.7 $ 24.5 $ 53.5

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On March 28, 2005, we announced our plans to continue consolidation of our North America
operations by closing certain facilities in the Grand Rapids, Michigan, area over the next two years.
The estimated net pre-tax restructuring charges of $25 to $30 related to this action consist of net
costs of employee terminations, the impairment of certain Ñxed assets and cost of relocating
production lines. In addition, we estimate we will incur $4 to $7 of costs related to disruption during
the transition period, which are not classiÑed as restructuring costs. The Board of Directors committed
to the course of action on March 25, 2005.

As the North American oÇce furniture industry contracted over the last several years, we took
actions to reduce costs, including actions to reduce excess capacity. However, we believe that we
currently have signiÑcant excess manufacturing capacity remaining. We are in the process of building
a new and more Öexible industrial system through a number of initiatives, including eÅorts to
implement lean manufacturing and reduce product complexity. We believe this new industrial system
will help improve productivity and reduce Ñxed costs thereby improving proÑtability. The restructuring
actions are consistent with these strategies. As a result of these actions, the Company expects that
manufacturing space will be reduced by approximately 2.6 million square feet and total headcount will
be reduced by approximately 600 hourly and salaried employees. The Company believes that after
these actions are implemented, it will have suÇcient capacity to meet anticipated customer demand.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure:

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures:

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company's management, with the participation of
the Company's Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer, evaluated the eÅectiveness of the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Exchange Act, as amended), as of February 25, 2005. Based on such evaluation, the Company's
Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer concluded that as of February 25, 2005, the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures were eÅective in recording, processing, summarizing
and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports
that it Ñles or submits under the Exchange Act.

(b) Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company has included a
report of management's assessment of the design and eÅectiveness of its internal control as part of
the Form 10-K. The independent registered public accounting Ñrm of BDO Seidman, LLP also attested
to, and reported on, management's assessment of the internal control over Ñnancial reporting.
Management's report and the independent registered public accounting Ñrm's attestation report are
included in this 10-K under the captions entitled ""Management's Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting'' and ""Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm'' and are
incorporated herein by reference.

(c) Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in the Company's internal
control over Ñnancial reporting (as deÑned in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) during the Company's fourth Ñscal quarter that have materially aÅected, or are reasonably likely
to materially aÅect, the Company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information:

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive OÇcers of the Registrant:

Certain information regarding executive oÇcers required by this Item is set forth as a
Supplementary Item at the end of Part 1 hereof. Other information required by this item is contained in
Part I, Item 1 under the Available Information section or in our 2005 Proxy Statement under the
captions ""Proposal Requiring Your VoteÌElection of Directors,'' ""Our Board of Directors,'' ""Corporate
Governance'' and ""Other MattersÌSection 16(a) BeneÑcial Ownership Reporting Compliance'' and
is incorporated into this Report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation:

The information required by Item 11 is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement, under the captions
""Director Compensation,'' ""Compensation Committee Report,'' ""Executive Compensation, Retirement
Programs and Other Arrangements,'' ""Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,''
and ""Stock Performance Graph'' and is incorporated into this Report by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters:

The information required by Item 12 that is not listed below is contained in our 2005 Proxy
Statement, under the caption ""Stock Ownership of Management and Certain BeneÑcial Owners'' and
is incorporated into this Report by reference.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of February 25, 2005 are
as follows:

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,130,085 $16.30 9,906,113

Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì N/A Ì

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,130,085 $16.30 9,906,113

All stock options were awarded under our Incentive Compensation Plan, which was Ñrst approved
by our shareholders in December 1997.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions:

The information required by Item 13 is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement, under the caption
""Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation'' and is incorporated into this Report by
reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services:

The information required by Item 14 is contained in our 2005 Proxy Statement under the caption
""Fees Paid to Principal Independent Auditor'' and is incorporated into this Report by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules:

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

1. Financial Statements (Item 8)

The following consolidated Ñnancial statements of the Company are Ñled as part of this Report:

‚ Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

‚ Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

‚ Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended February 25, 2005, February 27, 2004
and February 28, 2003

‚ Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 25, 2005 and February 27, 2004

‚ Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended February 25,
2005, February 27, 2004, and February 28, 2003

‚ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended February 25, 2005, February 27,
2004, and February 28, 2003

‚ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules (S-1)

Schedule IIÌValuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules required by Form 10-K have been omitted because they are not applicable or
the required information is disclosed elsewhere in this Report.

3. Exhibits Required by Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K

See Index of Exhibits (pages E-1 through E-9)

(b) Exhibits

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report. See
Item 15(a)(3) above.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report. See
Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

STEELCASE INC.

By: /s/ JAMES P. KEANE

James P. Keane
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial OÇcer

Date: May 6, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on this
3rd day of May, 2005:

President, Chief Executive OÇcer and May 6, 2005/s/ JAMES P. HACKETT

Director (Principal Executive OÇcer)James P. Hackett

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial May 6, 2005/s/ JAMES P. KEANE

OÇcer (Principal Financial OÇcer andJames P. Keane
Principal Accounting OÇcer)

Director May 6, 2005/s/ WILLIAM P. CRAWFORD

William P. Crawford

Director May 6, 2005/s/ EARL D. HOLTON

Earl D. Holton

Director May 6, 2005/s/ MICHAEL J. JANDERNOA

Michael J. Jandernoa

Director May 6, 2005/s/ DAVID W. JOOS

David W. Joos

Director May 6, 2005/s/ ELIZABETH VALK LONG

Elizabeth Valk Long

Chairman of the Board of Directors and May 6, 2005/s/ ROBERT C. PEW III
DirectorRobert C. Pew III

Director May 6, 2005/s/ PETER M. WEGE II

Peter M. Wege II
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Director May 6, 2005/s/ P. CRAIG WELCH, JR.

P. Craig Welch, Jr.

Director May 6, 2005/s/ KATE PEW WOLTERS

Kate Pew Wolters
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SCHEDULE II

STEELCASE INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at beginning of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 44.4 $ 61.5 $ 65.4
Additions:

Charged to costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.6 2.7 21.2
Charged to other accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 0.4 Ì

Deductions and other adjustments (1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (12.6) (20.2) (25.1)

Balance at end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 41.6 $ 44.4 $ 61.5

(1) Represents excess of accounts written oÅ over recoveries and other adjustments necessary in
order for amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

S-1
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Index of Exhibits

1.1 Purchase Agreement, dated November 19, 2001, by and among the Company, Goldman,
Sachs & Co., Salomon Smith Barney Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC, Banc One
Capital Markets, Inc. and BNP Paribas Securities Corp. (14)

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Steelcase Inc., PV Acquisition Corp. and
PolyVision Corporation dated August 24, 2001, as amended (15)

3.1 Second Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (1)

3.2 Amended By-laws of the Company, as amended March 27, 2004 (10)

4.1 Instruments which deÑne the rights of holders of long-term debt represent debt of less than
10% of total assets. In accordance with Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K, the
Company agrees to furnish a copy of such instruments to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request. (9)

4.2 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2003 among Steelcase Inc. and various lenders. (4)

4.3 Indenture dated November 27, 2001, between the Company and Bank One Trust Company,
N.A. (12)

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated November 27, 2001, between the Company and Bank
One Trust Company, N.A. (13)

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 19, 2001, by and among the Company,
Goldman, Sachs & Co., Salomon Smith Barney Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC,
Banc One Capital Markets, Inc. and BNP Paribas Securities Corp. (20)

4.6 Form of Note (included in Exhibit 4.4) (23)

4.7 Loan Agreement dated April 9, 1999, by and among Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and
Societe Generale (62)

4.8 Participation Agreement dated as of April 9, 1999, by and between Steelcase Europe LLC
and Societe Generale (63)

4.9 First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of June 15, 2001, by and among Steelcase
SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (64)

4.10 Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated November 12, 2001, by and among
Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (65)

4.11 Third Amendment to Loan Agreement dated November 5, 2002, by and among Steelcase
SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (36)

4.12 Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement and Waiver dated April 17, 2003, by and among
Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (37)

4.13 Fifth Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of August 7, 2003 by and among Steelcase
SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (43)

4.14 Credit Facility Agreement dated as of April 5, 2000, between Steelcase Financial Services
Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada (24)

4.15 Amendment dated May 24, 2001 to Credit Facility Agreement dated April 5, 2000, between
Steelcase Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada (30)

4.16 Guarantee dated as of April 5, 2000, by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada,
pursuant to the Credit Facility Agreement dated as of April 5, 2000, between Steelcase
Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada (31)
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4.17 Amendment dated May 24, 2001 to Guarantee dated as of April 5, 2000, by Steelcase Inc.
in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit Facility Agreement dated as of
April 5, 2000, between Steelcase Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada (41)

4.18 Amendment dated November 9, 2001 to Credit Facility Agreement between Steelcase
Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada, dated April 5, 2000, and the
Guarantee by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement dated April 5, 2000 (58)

4.19 Credit Facility Agreement dated as of May 24, 2001 by and between Steelcase Financial
Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada (59)

4.20 Guarantee dated as of May 24, 2001, by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada,
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Guarantee by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement dated May 24, 2001 (61)

4.22 Amendment to the Credit Facility Agreement dated October 3, 2002 between Steelcase
Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada, dated April 5, 2000, and the
Guarantee by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement dated April 5, 2000 (32)

4.23 Amendment to the Guarantee dated October 3, 2002 between Steelcase Financial Services
Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada, dated April 5, 2000, and the Guarantee by Steelcase Inc.
in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit Facility Agreement dated April 5,
2000 (33)
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Guarantee by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement dated May 24, 2001 (34)

4.25 Amendment to the Guarantee dated October 3, 2002 between Steelcase Financial Services
Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada, dated May 24, 2001, and the Guarantee by Steelcase
Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit Facility Agreement dated
May 24, 2001 (35)

4.26 Amendment to the Credit Facility Agreement dated May 2, 2003 between Steelcase
Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada, dated April 5, 2000, and the
Guarantee by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement dated April 5, 2000 (38)

4.27 Amendment to the Credit Facility Agreement dated May 2, 2003 between Steelcase
Financial Services Ltd. and Royal Bank of Canada, dated May 24, 2001, and the
Guarantee by Steelcase Inc. in favor of Royal Bank of Canada, pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement dated May 24, 2001 (39)

4.28 Second Amendment to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated
May 16, 2003 between Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders (40)

4.29 Third Amendment to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated August 1,
2003 between Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders (42)

4.30 Master Aircraft Lease Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of May 26, 2000
among First Security Bank, National Association and Steelcase Inc. (66)
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4.31 Lease Supplement and Acceptance CertiÑcate No. 1 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as
of May 26, 2000 between First Security Bank, National Association and Steelcase
Inc. (67)

4.32 Lease Supplement and Acceptance CertiÑcate No. 2 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as
of August 23, 2000 between First Security Bank, National Association and Steelcase
Inc. (68)

4.33 Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of May 26, 2000 among
Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America, National Association (69)

4.34 Appendix A to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated May 26, 2000
among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America, National
Association (70)

4.35 Security Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of May 26, 2000 from First
Security Bank, National Association to First Security Trust Company of Nevada and
accepted and agreed to by Steelcase Inc. (71)

4.36 Security Agreement Supplement No. 1 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated May 26, 2000
between First Security Bank, National Association to First Security Trust Company of
Nevada and accepted and agreed to by Steelcase Inc. (72)

4.37 Security Agreement Supplement No. 2 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated May 26, 2000
between First Security Bank, National Association to First Security Trust Company of
Nevada and accepted and agreed to by Steelcase Inc. (73)

4.38 Notice of Delivery pursuant to Section 2.3(b) of the Participation Agreement dated as of
May 26, 2000 among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America,
National Association give notice that the Aircraft shall be delivered to the CertiÑcate
Trustee on May 26, 2000 (74)

4.39 Notice of Delivery pursuant to Section 2.3(b) of the Participation Agreement dated as of
May 26, 2000 among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America,
National Association give notice that the Aircraft shall be delivered to the CertiÑcate
Trustee on August 23, 2000 (75)

4.40 First Amendment to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of
June 8, 2001 by and among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders (76)

10.1 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated January 12, 1998, between Steelcase Inc. and
James P. Hackett (3)

10.2 Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (2)

10.3 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated May 4, 1998, between Steelcase Inc. and William
P. Crawford (5)

10.4 Stock Purchase Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and Strafor Facom S.A. dated as of
April 21, 1999 (8)

10.5 Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (6)

10.6 Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (7)

10.7 Steelcase Inc. BeneÑt Plan for Outside Directors (26)

10.8 First Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (27)

10.9 First Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (28)

10.10 2002-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (29)

10.11 Shareholder's Agreement by and among Steelcase Inc., PV Acquisition, Inc. and The Alpine
Group, Inc. dated August 24, 2001 (22)
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10.12 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of March 1,
2002 (16)

10.13 Steelcase Inc. Management Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of March 1,
2002 (17)

10.14 Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James P. Hackett, dated
March 31, 2002 (18)

10.15 Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James P. Hackett, dated
March 31, 2002 (19)

10.16 Resignation Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James R. Stelter dated September 27,
2002 (21)

10.17 Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan, amended and restated as of
March 27, 2003 (44)

10.18 2004-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. BeneÑt Plan for Outside Directors (25)

10.19 2003-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (77)

10.20 2004-1 Amendment to Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation
Plan (45)

10.21 Summary of Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director BeneÑts

10.22 Employment Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James G. Mitchell dated January 20,
2003 (48)

10.23 Amendment dated June 28, 2004 to Employment Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and
James G. Mitchell dated January 20, 2003 (49)

10.24 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Board of
Directors Members (50)

10.25 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Executive
Management Team Members (51)

10.26 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Participants in
France (52)

10.27 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement for Participants in the
United States (53)

10.28 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement for Participants in the
United Kingdom (54)

10.29 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Agreement Form for Board of
Directors Members (55)

10.30 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Agreement Form (56)

10.31 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Units Agreement Form (57)

10.32 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan

10.33 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan

10.34 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan

10.35 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan

10.36 2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation
Plan

10.37 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Shares Agreement(46)

10.38 Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Agreement(47)

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant
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23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP

31.1 CertiÑcation of CEO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 CertiÑcation of CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 CertiÑcation of CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Asset Purchase Agreement between Steelcase Financial Services Inc. and General Electric
Capital Corporation, dated May 24, 2002 (11)

99.2 Guaranty by Steelcase Inc., in favor of General Electric Capital Corporation, dated May 24,
2002 (11)

(1) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (#333-41647) as Ñled with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(""Commission'') on December 5, 1997.

(2) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.4 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 26, 1999, as Ñled with the Commission on May 27, 1999, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to Amendment 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (#333-41647) as Ñled with the Commission on
January 20, 1998.

(4) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K, as Ñled with the Commission on
August 7, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.

(5) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.8 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 1998, as Ñled with the Commission on May 28, 1998, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(6) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.10 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 27, 1999, as Ñled with the Commission on October 12, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(7) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.11 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 1999, as Ñled with the Commission on January 10, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(8) Filed as Exhibit No. 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 22, 1999, as
Ñled with the Commission on May 7, 1999, and incorporated herein by reference.

(9) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the Ñscal year ended February 25, 2000, as Ñled with the Commission on
May 25, 2000.

(10) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended May 28, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on
July 7, 2004.

(11) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended May 24, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on
July 8, 2002.

(12) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.6 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on January 7, 2002.

(13) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.7 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on January 7, 2002.
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(14) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended November 23, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on
January 7, 2002.

(15) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with
the Commission on February 22, 2002.

(16) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.27 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(17) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.28 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(18) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.29 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(19) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.30 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(20) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.8 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on January 7, 2002.

(21) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(22) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.26 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.

(23) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.9 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on January 7, 2002.

(24) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.12 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.

(25) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.20 to the Company's Annual Report on Form  10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 28, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(26) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.21 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(27) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.22 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(28) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.23 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(29) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.24 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as Ñled with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(30) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.13 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.

(31) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.14 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.
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(32) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.33 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(33) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.34 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(34) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.35 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(35) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.36 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(36) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.37 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as Ñled with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(37) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.38 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 30, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on July 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(38) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.39 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 30, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on July 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(39) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.40 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 30, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on July 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(40) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.41 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 30, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on July 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(41) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.15 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference.

(42) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.43 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 29, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(43) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.44 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 29, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(44) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.19 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 28, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(45) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 29, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(46) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
March 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.

(47) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's 8-K Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
March 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
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(48) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.26 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on October 6, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(49) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.27 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on October 6, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(50) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.28 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(51) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.29 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(52) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.30 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(53) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.31 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(54) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(55) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.33 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(56) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.34 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(57) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.35 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.

(58) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.16 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(59) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.17 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(60) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.18 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(61) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.19 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(62) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.20 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(63) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.21 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(64) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.22 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.

(65) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.23 in the Company's S-4 Ñling, as Ñled with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.
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(66) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.36 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(67) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.37 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(68) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.38 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(69) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.39 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(70) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.40 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(71) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.41 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(72) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.42 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(73) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.43 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(74) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.44 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(75) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.45 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(76) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.46 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as Ñled with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.

(77) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Ñscal year
ended February 28, 2003, as Ñled with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.
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